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1.0 Executive Summary 

The Whanganui District Council (WDC) is proposed to undertake work on the 

Sarjeant Art Gallery in Pukenamu/Queen9s Park in central Whanganui. The work 

includes earthquake strengthening the existing building as well as refurbishing both 

the stone exterior and interior. The project also includes the construction of a 

substantial new three-level extension to the gallery at the rear of the existing building 

and ancillary works. 

Pukenamu/Queen9s Park is recorded as an archaeological site as it was once the site 

of a pa, and later the Rutland Stockade and the associated soldiers9 settlement. 

Whare or cottages for married troops were located in the vicinity of the proposed 

gallery extension. The cottages were later occupied by squatters and the area became 

called <The Rookery.= The stockade and associated archaeological remains, including 

those in the development area, are recorded with the New Zealand Archaeological 

Association as archaeological site R22/440. 

The Sarjeant Art Gallery is included in the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga 

(HNZPT) List (No. 167). It is also listed in the Wanganui District Plan Heritage 

Inventory. Queen9s Park is a local purpose reserve vested in the WDC. 

The new development will also require removing mature trees, excavating nearly 

11,000 m8 of sand, providing new and upgraded services and access to the gallery, 

including the new basement, and other related work. 

This report presents the results of an archaeological assessment of the proposed in 

Pukenamu/Queen9s Park, in central Whanganui. Earthworks for the gallery 

development will destroy most archaeological remains that are encountered. An 

HNZPT Authority will be necessary and a general HNZPT Authority should be 

applied for. It is recommended that HNZPT issue an Authority subject to standard 

conditions. 
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2.0 Introduction 

This report presents the results of an archaeological assessment of works at the 

Sarjeant Art Gallery at Pukenamu/Queen9s Park in central Whanganui (Figs. 1 & 2). 

The work proposed by the Whanganui District Council (WDC) includes refurbishing 

the interior and exterior of the existing gallery as well as earthquake strengthening 

the building; constructing a substantial three-level new gallery extension at the rear 

of the building; removing protected mature trees; providing new and renewing 

services and access to the gallery; extending the car park; and making associated 

changes to the landscape and roading. See Appendices C and D for detailed drawings. 

The Sarjeant Art Gallery is listed under the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga 

Act 2014 (HNZPTA 2014) as a Category I building in the Heritage New Zealand 

Pouhere Taonga (HNZPT) List (HNZPT List No. 167). It is also listed in the 

Wanganui District Plan Heritage Inventory. 

Queen9s Park was once the site of a pa, and later the Rutland Stockade and the 

associated soldiers9 settlement with huts or cottages for married troops located in the 

vicinity of the proposed gallery extension. The huts were later occupied by squatters 

and became called <The Rookery.= The stockade and associated archaeological 

remains, including the development area, are recorded with the New Zealand 

Archaeological Association (NZAA) as archaeological site R22/440. 

Queen9s Park is a local purpose reserve vested in the WDC that covers 7.2 ha with 

about 5 ha of open space. Only one title is involved in the development, which is 

Section 547, Town of Wanganui. 

There are a number of other significant heritage buildings and structures located in 

the park (WDC 2018):. Three of the structures in the park, namely the Cenotaph 

(HNZPT List No. 974), Veteran Steps (HNZPT List No. 995), and the War Memorial 

Hall (List No. 7442) are also on the national HNZPT List. Four of the HNZPT listed 

structures are listed in the Whanganui District Plan. Other civic buildings located in 

the park include the Whanganui Regional Museum, the Alexander Heritage and 

1 The 2018 Pukenamu/Queen9s Park Management Plan replaced the earlier WDC 1992 Queen9s Park 

Management Plan. 
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Research Library, and the Whanganui Central (Davis) Library and the Brass 

Whanganui Brass Inc, band rooms. 

Under the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act 2014 all archaeological sites 

are protected and no person may modify or destroy, or cause to be modified or 

destroyed, the whole or any part of that site if that person knows, or ought 

reasonably to have suspected, that the site is an archaeological site. Any person 

wanting to modify or destroy an archaeological site must apply to the HNZPT in 

Wellington for an Authority to do so. Mitigation is usually required by HNZPT. The 

Sarjeant Art Gallery itself is not an archaeological site as defined by the HNZPT Act 

2014 as it was constructed after 1900, but because of the 19th century history of 

occupation in the area around the gallery there is a reasonable expectation that 

archaeological remains will be located within the footprint of the new building and 

related works. There may also be archaeological under the Sarjeant Art Gallery itself. 

Figure 1: Showing the location of Pukenamu/Queen9s Park in central Whanganui. The 

figure is extracted the Pukenamu/Queen9s Park Management Plan 2018 (WDC 2018). 

The whole of the reserve is recorded as NZAA site R22/440. 
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Figure 2: Extracted from lead contractors McMillan & Lockwood Construction 

Management Plan for the Sarjeant Art Gallery development showing the area to be 

fenced (the red line), the extent of the main excavations, & the operating area. New 

services, access, & other ancillary facilities are not shown on this figure. See Appendices C 
& D for detailed drawings of the construction & services. 

Archaeological sites are a finite and non-renewable resource. They are often very 

fragile and vulnerable. Each archaeological site is unique and once the archaeological 

values are damaged or destroyed they cannot be restored or replaced. Most 

archaeological remains are below the ground surface and are not visible so any 

disturbance of the earth on an archaeological site has the potential to cause damage 

or destruction to the remains under the ground. 

This archaeological assessment was commissioned by WDC and the report 

researched and written by Archaeology North Ltd., to meet requirements for an 

application for an HNZPT Authority to damage or destroy an archaeological site 

(Gumbley 1995; HNZPT 2019). 
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Te Runanga O Tupoho is mana whenua, or the traditional authority, to speak for 

Pukenamu. Tupoho consider Pukenamu to be a site of spiritual, cultural and historic 

significance. 

3.0 Statutory Requirements 

There are three main pieces of legislation in New Zealand that control work affecting 

archaeological sites located in a reserve. These are the Heritage New Zealand 

Pouhere Taonga Act 2014 (HNZPT Act 2014), the Resource Management Act 1991 

(RMA 1991) and the Reserves Act 1977. 

Heritage New Zealand administers the HNZPT Act. It contains a consent 

(archaeological Authority) process for any work affecting archaeological sites, where 

an archaeological site is defined as: 

a) Any place in New Zealand, including any building or structure (or part of a 

building or structure), that 4 

i) Was associated with human activity that occurred before 1900 or is the 

site of the wreck of any vessel where the wreck occurred before 1900; and 

ii) Provides or may provide, through investigation by archaeological 

methods, evidence relating to the history of New Zealand; and 

b) Includes a site for which a declaration is made under section 43(1). 

Any person who intends to carry out work that may modify or destroy an 

archaeological site must first obtain an Authority from Heritage New Zealand. The 

process applies to all archaeological sites on land of all tenure including public, 

private and designated land. The HNZPT Act 2014 contains penalties for 

unauthorised site damage or destruction. 

The archaeological Authority process applies to all archaeological sites, regardless of 

whether: 

e The site is recorded in the NZAA Site Recording Scheme or included in the 
HNZPT List; 

e The site only becomes known about as a result of ground disturbance; 
and/or 
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e The activity is permitted under a district or regional plan, or a resource or 

building consent has been granted. 

HNZPT also maintains the HNZPT Heritage List/Rarangi Korero of Historic Places, 

Historic Areas, Wahi Tupuna, Wahi Tapu and Wahi Tapu Areas. The List can include 

archaeological sites. Its purpose is to inform members of the public about such places 

and to assist with their protection under the RMA 1991. The Sarjeant Art Gallery is 

listed as Category I under the HNZPT Act 2014. This means that it is a 8place of 

special or outstanding historical or cultural heritage significance or value9. 

The RMA 1991 requires City, District and Regional Councils to manage the use, 

development, and protection of natural and physical resources in a way that provides 

for the wellbeing of today9s communities while safeguarding the options of future 

generations. They are also required to recognise and provide for the following 

matters of national importance: 

e the relationship of Maori and their culture and traditions with their 

ancestral lands, water, sites, wahi tapu, and other taonga: 

e the protection of historic heritage from inappropriate subdivision, use, and 

development. 

Historic heritage is defined as those natural and physical resources that contribute to 

an understanding and appreciation of New Zealand's history and cultures, derived 

from archaeological, architectural, cultural, historic, scientific, or technological 

qualities. 

Under the RMA 1991 historic heritage includes: 

e historic sites, structures, places, and areas; 

° archaeological sites; 

° sites of significance to Maori, including wahi tapu; 

e surroundings associated with the natural and physical resources (RMA 

section 2). 

These categories are not mutually exclusive and some archaeological sites may 

include surface structures or may also be places that are of significance to Maori. 
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Where resource consent is required for any activity the assessment of effects is 

required to address cultural and historic heritage matters (RMA 4th Schedule and 

the district plan assessment criteria). 

A Resource Consent for the work was issued on 25 August 2014, after a 

commissioners hearing. It contains no specific recommendations or conditions 

concerning archaeology, but does have an advice note which states: 

<There are recorded archaeological sites in the vicinity of the proposed 

work. The consent holder is advised to contact Heritage New Zealand 

for further information. Work affecting archaeological sites is subject 

to a separate consent process under the Historic Places Act 1993. If 

any activity associated with this consent, such as earthworks, fencing 

or landscape planting, may modify or damage or destroy any 
archaeological site(s), an authority from Heritage New Zealand must 

be obtained for the work prior to commencement. It is an offence to 

damage or destroy a site for any purpose without an authority. The 

Historic Places Act 1993 details penalties for unauthorised damage to 

archaeological sites.= 

The Sarjeant Art Gallery is located in Pukenamu/Queen9s Park and gazetted under 

the Reserves Act 1977. The Reserve is vested in the WDC. It was re-classified in 2018 

as a 8local purpose reserve (culture and heritage)9 under Section 24 of the Act to 

ensure it more closely aligned with the use of the park. The inclusion of words 

8culture and heritage9 were seen as appropriate given the significance of the reserve. 

The change was gazetted on ist November 2018. 

Reserves managed under the Reserves Act are required to have a Management Plan. 

In 2018 a new Pukenamu/Queen9s Park Management Plan replaced the earlier 1992 

plan. The 2018 plan recognises and protects the archaeological values of the park and 

identifies the whole of Pukenamu/Queen9s Park as an archaeological landscape and 

that protected archaeological remains are present over much of the Reserve. The 

plan has a comprehensive list of all known present and past buildings and structures 

of historical, archaeological and cultural value in the park. The 2018 Management 

Plan provides for the extension of the Art Gallery. Objective 1 of the Plan is: 
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<To protect Pukenamu/Queens Park in its entirety as an 

archaeological landscape and protect sites, features and structures of 

heritage and cultural value.= 

4.0 Methodology 

The assessment included both field inspections and archival research. The first field 

inspection of the proposed work at the gallery was carried out in November 2011 with 

Bruce Falk, then Building Services Officer for the Property Group of WDC, and the 

author has subsequently revisited the site on several occasions, with the most recent 

inspection of the development area in October 2019 carried out with representatives 

from RCP, the project management company for the development. 

A meeting to discuss the archaeological implications of the Sarjeant Art Gallery 

extension development was convened by WDC with John Maihi, (mana whenua 

liaison) and other mana whenua representatives on 6 September 2018. Assistance 

and technical details and plans for this assessment were provided primarily by RCP, 

WSP (Opus) and WDC. 

The archaeological assessment included a comprehensive review of published and 

unpublished historical information and archaeological sources concerning the park 

and its development history. Sources consulted included: 

e _ ArchSite2 4 the on-line NZAA database was used to identify recorded 

archaeological sites. 

e The WDC District Plan heritage lists and District Plan3 2018 were used to 

check for the location of heritage and archaeological sites. 

e The HNZPT List4 and digital archaeology library5 were checked for relevant 

listings. 

e NZAA and other archaeological publications were checked for relevant 

reports and information. 

2 http://www.archsite.org.nz/ 
3 https://www.whanganui.govt.nz/our-services/planning- 

services/districtplan/Documents/Appendices/18%20Appendix%20K%20Archaeology%20%20aS%20 
amended%20by%20PC46.pdf 
4 https://www.heritage.org.nz/the-list 

5 https://www.heritage.org.nz/protecting-heritage/archaeology/digital-library 
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Published regional and local histories were consulted for relevant 

information. These included the relevant Waitangi Tribunal reports. 

Other unpublished reports pertaining to the history of Pukenamu/Queen9s 

Park and the Sarjeant Gallery were consulted. In particular these included 
the following: Sarjeant Gallery 1919, Queen9s Park, Wanganui, Heritage 

Assessment by Chris Cochran (2012); A History of Pukenamu Queen9s Park 

Whanganui by Kyle Dalton (2018); British Forces in Whanganui 1846-1870, 

by Randal Springer (2001); The Pukenamu/Queen9s Park Management 

Plan 2018 by WDC (2018) and the C. L. Lovegrove Papers, NZC15, held at 

the Alexander Heritage and Research Library. 

Early Whanganui photographs were sought on-line at the Alexander 

Turnbull Library, Whanganui Regional Museum, Whanganui Public 

Library, and the George Grey Collection at the Auckland Public Library. 

Historic maps and survey plans of Petre and Whanganui held in the 

National Archives in Wellington, the Whanganui Regional Museum, the 

Whanganui Alexander Heritage and Research Library and the Whanganui 

District Council Archives were utilized. 

PapersPast, the National Library website that has on-line editions of 19th 

century newspapers was searched for historic reports on Rutland Stockade, 
Queen9s Park, the Rookery and other key words. Copies of the Wanganui 

Herald digitalized and on-line date from 1867-1920 and for the Wanganui 
Chronicle for 1874-1910. 

Queen9s Park was first landscaped for use as a park before 1900 and consequently 

examination of 20th century aerial photographs and maps was not likely to show 

early historic features. 

All modern photographs used in this report were taken by Michael Taylor of 

Archaeology North Ltd., unless otherwise referenced. 

No ground disturbance such as test hole digging or probing was undertaken by the 

archaeologists in the preparation of this assessment. 

This assessment report is for the purposes of recording and documenting 

archaeological evidence and is not intended to represent a Maori cultural perspective 

or significance; an assessment of this should be sought separately. 
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Figure 3: Pukenamu/Queen9s Park showing the existing use of Pukenamu/Queen9s 

Park. The figure is an extract from the Pukenamu/Queen9s Park Management Plan 2018 
(WDC 2018). 

5.0 Physical Environment or Setting 

5.1 Introduction 

The Maori name for the dune ridge which is included in Queen9s Park was 

<Pukenamu= (meaning sand-fly hill). The European name of <The Queen's Park= for 

the reserve was provided by the New Zealand Company and recorded on the 

company9s first maps of the proposed town. This was later shortened to <Queen's 

Park=. It was also variously referred to as Rutland Hill, Stockade Hill, Queen's 

Gardens, Queen's Hill and other names. 

The development history of the archaeological site is summarized in the NZAA site 

record: 

<The site was landscaped from 1880 and the Sarjeant Art Gallery 

(1919), Wanganui Regional Museum (1928), Garrison Band Rooms, 

Cenotaph, Veteran Step (1892 & 1919) and Queen9s Park School 1879 

(demolished 1971) have all been constructed on site=. 
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The park is used for a wide range of community historic, cultural, and artistic 

activities with valuable facilities in the libraries, the art gallery, museum and other 

cultural facilities there (Fig. 3). The park is also a focus of war memorials, which 

reflect Whanganui9s military origins and history. It is also popular for passive 

recreation. The park is surrounded on all sides by urban development with the main 

commerce and business areas on the southwestern and western sides. 

Cochran (2012) wrote a comprehensive heritage assessment for WDC on the Sarjeant 

Gallery and affirmed it was the centre piece of the park and of great heritage value. 

5.2 Location 

The park is located on high ground on the end of a long dune that overlooks a bend in 

the Whanganui River, where Pakaitore is located (Figs. 1-2). Figures 4-9 are modern 

photographs of the development area. 

In a straight line the park is about 5 km from the sea, but is over 7 km following the 

river inland from its mouth. 

The ridge is formed from black wind-blown sand, which runs northwest to 

Kaiherau/St John9s Hill (or Wood). Visibility of the dune ridge has been obscured by 

urban development, and it has been reduced by the removal of sand, including for 

road cuttings. Large areas have been levelled and otherwise modified since the mid- 

198 century. Pukenamu The hill generally has steep sides, with more level and rolling 

areas on the hilltop. 

5.3 Waterways 

The Whanganui River is the main water body in the vicinity. The sand on the park is 

free draining with no permanent waterways. The Mangawhero or Nixon9s Stream, a 

small stream, enters the Whanganui River just upriver from Pukenamu hill. It was 

used for eeling by Maori (Smart and Bates 1972: 33) (See Figures in Section 6.4). The 

watercourse is now entirely contained in culverts. The swamp lands through which 

the Mangawhero once flowed have been drained and urbanised. 
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Figure 4: Looking towards the Sarjeant Art Gallery showing the level area where the 

new gallery extension will be constructed. Most of the trees in the image will be removed. 

All archaeological remains in the building footprint and associated batter will be 

destroyed. 

Figure 5: Looking south towards the Sarjeant Art Gallery showing the area where the 

ground rises to the road passing behind the gallery. Possibly the raised ground is fill from 

when the gallery hill was levelled. The road behind, and to the left of, the gallery will be 

removed. 
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Figure 6: Looking south towards the back of the gallery. The existing loading bay (the 
square grey addition to the gallery), path and road will be removed and backfilled. A new 
footpath and bike park is planned to be built here. 

Figure 7: Looking south towards Cenotaph Hill, between the band rooms on the left 
(behind the fence) and the gallery, out of view on the right. This area is proposed for the 
loading bay, turning area and parking. Also it is one of the two options for an access road 
to the new gallery extension delivery and loading bay. Archaeological remains in this area 
are likely to be destroyed. 
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Figure 8 The same area as the previous image (Fig.7), but looking the other way (north). 

The gallery is visible on the left. The new gallery extension will be built on the flat grassed 

area in the centre of the image through to the library carpark. The sloping area in the 

foreground is an option for accessway to the loading bay in the basement of the new 

extension. The band room is on the right and a new car park will be necessary in the 

vicinity of the present parking area. 

Figure 9: Looking east, facing away from the back of the Sarjeant Art Gallery, and 

showing the existing foot track down to Bell Street. New services will follow the track 

down to the street. Option 2 for a truck access to the basement of the new gallery 
extension would require widening the pathway. 
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Historically the level areas between the sand hills in the town were very wet and 

swampy. Whanganui historian T. W. Downes (1915: 206) wrote that 

<.where the township now stands was little better than a swamp, 

with flax, raupo, and patches of high fern. The whole of Victoria 

Avenue was a perfect swamp, frequently knee-deep and seldom quite 
dry, even during the heat of summer.= 

The 1992 Wanganui District Council Queen9s Park Management Plan states that an 

artesian aquifer occurs in a shingle, shell and sand uplifted marine layer below the 

park and a well was sunk into the aquifer in the 1870s to provide water for the troops 

at the Rutland Stockade. The well is believed to be located in grass near to the 

entrance of the Whanganui Davis Library. 

5.4 Geology and Soils 

The basement rock deep beneath Pukenamu/Queen9s Park is probably a greywacke, 

which is overlain by uplifted thick ancient marine sediment. This in turn has become 

largely buried by black iron-sand dunes, formed during the Holocene, which have 

has blown inland from the coast after drifting along the shore from Taranaki. 

Both Pukenamu/Queen9s Park and nearby Papatuhou/Cooks Gardens are situated on 

these black sand dunes. Historic photographs show that Pukenamu/Queen9s Park 

was once rough ground with drifting wind-blown sand (Figs. 10 & 11). There are 

comments in the press about "The City of the Sandhills= (Wanganui Herald 22 March 

1889). 

On the river flats that adjoin the park there are deep deposits of pumice that was 

transported down the Whanganui River after the massive Taupo eruption about 

1800 years ago. There are deposits on the flats of alluvial sediment from flooding of 

the Whanganui River. There are also low sand drifts on the flats. 
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5.5 Vegetation 

Today the main vegetation in the park is mainly grass with a skyline dominated by 

large pine trees, palm trees, pohutukawa, oak and other trees. Some of these large 

specimen trees have high amenity and historical value. Oak trees on the development 

site were planted about 1930. Several of the trees are listed in the District Plan, 

including some affected by the present development. 

The secondary vegetation is a wide mix of both native and exotic species. The 2018 

Reserve Management Plan contains a detailed map and listing of existing trees and 

shrubs in the park (Ogden 2018). Little if any of the original natural vegetation has 

survived. 

Early historical accounts describe the dune as drifting sand. One of the earliest 

written descriptions of the vegetation in the vicinity was provided by Edward 

Jeramiah Wakefield (known as Jerningham) of the N. Z. Company, who visited and 

resided in Whanganui from 1839. He described the area at the back of the settlement 

(the front was focused along the river bank) as <swamps and fern-ridges.= 

(Wakefield 1845b: 6) suggesting the sand ridges were mainly in fern. 

Since the settlement of the town the civil authorities tried to stabilise the dune with a 

succession of planting programmes. The sand was partly stabilised by the civil 

administration with large scale planting of Mesembryanthemum or ice plants 

(Carpobrotus edulis) over the park from the early 1880s (visible in Figures 10 and 

11). Then most of the park was planted in pine trees in the 1890s. 

5.6 Development of Queen9s Park 

Modification of the original Pukenamu dune formation has occurred during the 

European residence in Whanganui. This has included excavation, quarrying, levelling 

and filling for a variety of developments. However, the dune9s original form is still 

apparent in the park and dominates its topography. 

Following European arrival the hill top was levelled from late 1846 onwards to build 

the Rutland Stockade. Later the high point where the main stockade blockhouse was 
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located was used as the site for a band rotunda and is now the site of the World War I 

Cenotaph. Further, levelling of the adjacent area of ridgetop was undertaken for the 

construction of the Sarjeant Art Gallery in 1919. 

The flat area overlooking Bell Street (to the north) and located behind the Art Gallery 

and the Davis Library was levelled mainly in the late 19th or early 20" century. The 

slopes facing Maria Place (to the south) were terraced and landscaped from the 

1880s onward, with the Veterans Steps constructed in 1919. 

There were also tennis courts located on the current flat are behind the gallery. The 

Mahoe Lawn Tennis Club was formed in 1905 and applied to the Borough Council to 

install four or five courts and an ornamental pavilion in Queen9s Park. The request 

was granted and the Borough gardener instructed to facilitate the work which 

included the cutting down of trees levelling of the site and then <claying the same= 

that is putting a layer of clay over the surface of the sand (Wanganui Herald 5 April 

1905, p.7; Wanganui Herald 19 April 1905 p. 7).The courts may have been located on 

the flat behind the Sarjeant Art Gallery, where the new gallery extension is to be 

constructed. In 1906 the club name was changed to Queens Park Tennis Club 

(Wanganui Herald 20 October 1906, p.7). The courts were in close proximity to the 

Lion Soldiers9 Monument, which was later moved. The club continued until at least 

1909 (McKinnon 1980). 

A large volume of sand was quarried from the south-eastern Ridgway Street end of the 

park, in 1879-80 for use as fill in the reclamation of the river edge between the town 

side of Taupo Quay to Moutoa Quay from the River Boat Museum (1A Taupo Quay) to 

Victoria Avenue (Springer 2001a). 
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6.0 Historical Background 

6.1 Maori Background 

Whanganui has a long history of residence by Maori. The Whanganui River is the 

home of the Whanganui River tribes, known as Te Ati Haunui-a-Paparangi, a 

confederation of three ancestral groups with of Hinengakau of the upper river, Tama 

Upoko of the middle reaches and Tupoho of the lower reaches (Downes 1915; Smart 

& Bates 1972: 17-44; Waitangi Tribunal 2015). 

The Whanganui River formed a major route into the interior of the North Island 

using poled and paddled canoes, and provided food as well as access to fertile areas 

for gardening. Villages and fortified pa were concentrated along its banks (Fig. 12). 

The people of the river say, <E rere kau mai i te Awa nui, Mai i te Kahui Maunga ki 

Tangaroa, Ko au te Awa, ko te Awa ko au= (The Great River flows from the 

Mountains to the Sea, I am the River, and the River is me) (Waitangi Tribunal 2015: 

2-3 & 5; Young 1998). 

The main Maori settlement at Whanganui in pre-and post-European times was 

Putiki (a contraction of Te Putiki Wharanui a Tamatea Pokai Whenua), home to the 

Ngati Tupoho and Ngati Tumango hapu. Putiki is about 1.5 km downriver from 

Pukenamu-Queen9s Park on the opposite bank. 

The lower Whanganui River and the river mouth were focus for seasonal fishing. Up- 

river hapu and coastal iwi congregated in villages, in the river estuary, that were 

mainly occupied seasonally when school fish such as kahawai were abundant and 

fine weather allowed fishing from canoes (Power 1849: 49; Wakefield 1845a: 242- 

243; Smart 1960: 29-31; Smart & Bates 1972: 28, 33; Waitangi Tribunal 2015: 275- 

290). Pakaitore (R22/580), between Pukenamu and the Whanganui River, was one 

such settlement (Fig. 12). 

Whanganui was always a focus for war parties, migrations and most other travellers 

along the west coast. The river stopped those travelling on foot. Also the Whanganui 

River was the main route from the central North Island, parts of Taranaki and 

beyond in the past and lead to the river mouth. 
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Figure 12: A portion of a sketch map of the Whanganui River before 1840 extracted 

from Old Whanganui (Downes 1915). Note Pukenamu, Patupuhou & Purua are marked as 

battlegrounds on the map (top right). 

One such group, a northern Ngapuhi, Ngati Toa and Te Roroa war party, travelling 

south in 1819, came upon some Whanganui and Ngati Apa people unexpectedly at 

Purua Pa®, and a battle ensued. Nine Ngati Apa chiefs, including Tihi, Hoani 

Hipango9s father, were killed (Ballara 2003: 155). Purua was located directly across 

the river from Pukenamu, on the east bank. On their return north the war party again 

stopped at the mouth of the Whanganui River to discover a new pa had been 

constructed by this Whanganui people. Accounts indicate this pa was at Purua 

(Smart and Bates 1972: 38; Smith9 1910b: 119-120). (Purua can be seen on Figure 18 

and is also named on Figures 12 & 19). The original informant stated that they saw a 

new pa had been built so they assaulted, stormed and took it, and killed the people. 

Whanganui people were cited as saying that at the time the pa was taken: 

6 In the area where Anzac Parade (SH4), Purua Place and Portal Streets intersect. 

7. Percy Smith was a surveyor, who became Surveyor General. He was a recognised scholar of the 

Maori language and co-founded the Polynesian Society in 1892, and was co-editor of and a regular 
contributor to the Journal of the Polynesian Society. 
https://teara.govt.nz/en/biographies/2s33/smith-stephenson-percy 
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<The people of Pukenamu (Rutland Stockade, town of Whanganui), 

Patupo and Taumahaute (on top of Shakespeare's Cliff, Whanganui), 

and all the other pas in the neighbourhood of the mouth of the river, 

fled inland as soon as the northern taua appeared, taking in their 
canoes all the property they could manage, for the recollection of the 

previous visit of the invaders a few months before, and the 

devastation they then caused, were fresh in their minds.=(Smith 1910a: 
306; 1910b: 120-121). 

This is the earliest reference to Pukenamu as a village or pa located in this research. 

The local people fled up the river, but Te Roroa and their leader Tuwhare, from the 

northern expedition, followed them up the river. Ngati Toa and Nga Puhi stayed near 

the river mouth. Eventually, after Tuwhare was fatally injured at Kaiwhakauka by 

Hamarama with his taiaha Te Roroa retreated down river and proceeded homeward 

up the coast (Smith 1910a:309). 

6.2 The Battle of Pukenamu 

In early winter 1832 some 2000 -30008 people of Ati Awa and other Taranaki tribes 

from between Mokau to Patea, left Taranaki in a migration called Te Heke 0 Tama Te 

Uaua and travelled to Horowhenua and Kapiti. This followed a history of hostilities 

with Waikato tribes, which included the battles of Motunui, (1821-2), Pukerangiora 

(1831), and Nga Motu (1832). Taranaki tribes anticipated further attacks and in a 

series of heke or migrations moved to the southern north island (Riwaka 2000). 

Details of Te Heke o Tama Te Uaua were provided in 1887 by Rangipito® of Ngati 

Rahiri, a hapu of Ati Awa, who was a boy at the time of the heke. In an interview he 

described to S. Percy Smith and Alexander Shand9° the various heke of Ngati Toa and 

Te Ati Awa between 1820 and 1833 (Smith 1910a: 487-497). 

8 Other accounts state that there were some were some 3000 people in Te Heke 0 Tama Te Uaua, of 
whom over 1000 were toa (Grace 1966:256). 
9 MS-Papers-1187-128, ATL. 

8© Alexander Shand was a licensed Maori interpreter who published a history of The Moriori people of 
the Chatham Islands 
https://teara.govt.nz/en/biographies/2s16/shand-alexander 

Archaeology North Ltd. Page 22



Te Heke o Tama Te Uaua started out at Kapuataitu, on the upper Waiongana River. 

They followed the ancient Te Whakaahurangi track to Ketemarae (near to 

Normanby) where they stayed a month (Smith 1910a: 488-491; Sole 2005: 134-135). 

Te Ati Awa and other hapu migrating included Nga Motu, Puketapu, Manukorihi, 

Pukerangiora, Ngati-Tu, Ngati-Hine-uru Ngati Kaitangata, Te Whakarewa Ngati 

Rahiri, and some from Ngati Mutunga, Ngati Tama and other tribes Smith 1910a: 

488). Those migrating included some pakeha whalers, including Dickey Barrett, 

Jacky Love and Billy Keenan and their families who had fought with Ati Awa at Otaka 

Pa against Maniapoto and Waikato tribes. 

The Ati Awa migration arrived in Whanganui in August 1832, to find that Whanganui 

iwi under Te Pehi Turoa had travelled south to Horowhenua and Kapiti with a large 

war party of Ngati Maniapoto (under leader Poutama), Waikato, and Ngati 

Tuwharetoa, including the paramount chief Te Heu Heu Mananui #, and his brother 

Iwikau. They were escorting some migrating Ngati Raukawa from Taupo. Only a few 

Whanganui people had stayed behind, with the canoes, in which they had travelled 

down the river, on the south side of the river (Grace 1966: 256, Smith 1910a: 490; 

Waltz 2017: 103-106). 

The Taranaki migrants camped at Te Karamuramu (between modern Wilson and 

Hatrick Streets) remaining there about a month, most likely near to the Karamu (or 

Churton9s) Stream. On the return of Whanganui and their Taupo and Waikato allies 

they found Te Ati Awa in occupation across the Whanganui River at Karamu. 

Rangipito9s account recited how some Whanganui men crossed the Whanganui River 

in a little canoe to investigate, and when Te Ito (Rangipito9s father) went to meet 

them, he was shot from the waka. The death ignited hostilities (Grace 1966: 349). 

The next morning Whanganui and their allies crossed the river in force and attacked. 

The battle became called the Battle of Pukenamu although Whanganui authors Smart 

and Bates (1972: 32-33) name it as the Battle of Patupuhou. 

4 https://teara.govt.nz/en/biographies/1t31/te-heuheu-tukino-ii-mananui 
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Grace recorded that Taranaki had occupied the heights of Pukenamu (Grace 1966: 

257). Elsewhere he stated the: 

<The battle fought at a spot a little eastward of the hillock Pukenamu, 

which stands in the middle of the present city of Whanganui= (Grace 
1966: 350). 

Percy Smith wrote: 

<The above fight took place to the eastward of Pukenamu, which is the 
Maori name of the hill in the town of Whanganui and now used as a 

park, and on which formerly stood the Rutland Stockade4in fact, the 

fighting occurred in what is now the densest part of the town, between 
the Stockade and the river= (Smith 1910a: 492). 

The men from Ngati Tawhirikura, a hapu of Ati Awa, commenced shooting?? and Te 

Heu Heu and his younger brother Te Popo returned fire (Grace 1966: 349). The 

Taupo and Waikato iwi were attacked aggressively by the Taranaki hapu, particularly 

those under Te Rangiwahia and Onemihi. Ngati Tawhirikura advanced on 

Whanganui, fighters who had occupied a <thicket= (meaning a dense or tangled 

growth of small trees or bushes or brush), but were driven off and fell back. Ngati 

Tama and Te Ati Awa then advanced on Tuwharetoa, led by Te Onemihi, a principal 

chief who used a broad battle axe. Te Onemihi killed a companion of Te Popo (Te 

Heu Heu9s younger brother) and so Te Popo shot Te Onemihi. Te Popo was in turn 

shot and killed by Te Ketu of Ngati Tama. 

The fighting was described as intense and at close quarters (Crosby 1999: 257; Smith 

1910a: 491). Ngati Tawhirikura then rallied and renewed their attack and with the 

rest of Ati Awa drove Whanganui and Tuwharetoa back to the river. Whanganui and 

Taupo people retired taking to the river in their canoes or swimming, while Te Ati- 

Awa fired after them (Grace 1966: 359). Barrett and the other Europeans assisted 

their Ati Awa friends in the fighting. 

Ngati Tuwharetoa lost Te Popo, as well as three other chiefs Tahawai, Tawhana and 

Tutawa (Grace 1966: 350). The chief men of Te Ati Awa killed there were 

Tamakiteroa, Te Makere, Maramara, Rangi-tuaka, Tutaiaroa, Te Ito, together with 

2 Rangipito used the term "Uruuru-purumu" to describe the 19th century musket used by Maori. The 
guns used were flint lock muskets firing lead balls, rocks or other suitable objects. 
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Tutawa and Te Rangiapukea of the Patutokotoko hapu, and 30-40 other men (Smith 

1910a 492; Waltz 2017: 105). Many Ngati Maniapoto were killed at Pukenamu (Smith 

1910a: 494-495). 

The Te Ati-Awa and others remained on the Pukenamu battle field under direction of 

the old chiefs Rangiwahia, Rauakitua, and Te Hautehoro. As evening dawned, Te Ati 

Awa recited the ngeri, or war-song, of Waikato, used by them during the expedition 

to Pukerangiora, as a foretelling of their victory (Smith 1910a: 492-494). 

Ina slightly varying account Smith continued: 

"After the events above related, the people of the place and their allies 

returned to their pa at Pukenamu, whilst we remained in our camp at 

Kokohuia, near where the old Maori track leaves the beach (? of the river), 

and came inland to Pukenamu= (Smith 1910a: 495). 

Smith continued citing Rangipito: 

<After the fight the Ati-Awa returned to their camp and at once 

commenced fortifying it, at which they worked right on through the 

night, putting up palisades interwoven with flax leaves,3, and 

completed the whole by digging a trench and making a parepare or 

wall. 

<The next morning the Taupo and Whanganui tribes advanced to the 

attack; but after trying an assault they failed in carrying the Ati-Awa 

defences. They advanced down a ridge near the place now called St. 

John's Wood, having crossed the river higher up, and then came 

across the flats now covered by the town of Whanganui, and occupied 

Pukenamu hill. Iwikau and Papaka, principal chiefs of the Taupo 

people, led the advance, but they did not come very near the AtiAwa 

position, being afraid of the muskets, but some skirmishing took place 

outside= (Smith 1910a: 493). 

During this second battle Te Ati Awa suffered heavy losses. Early that evening an 

often cited verbal exchange took place between the leading men Te Heu Heu and Te 

3 Flax leaves bundled thickly were almost impervious to bullets fired from muskets. 

14 Grace (1966: 350) says the next fighting took place two days later. 
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Rangiwahia concerning those who had fallen in the fighting (Grace 1966: 351; Smith 

1910a: 493-494). In the still evening their voices could be heard for some distance. 

On the first day of the fighting at Pukenamu Ati Awa had dispatched messengers to 

Kapiti and Horowhenua to inform the people of the death of Te Ito and Te Onemihi. 

Soon 2,000 Ngati Ruanui, under Te Hanataua (the principal chief from Patea and 

surrounding area) arrived to assist Ati Awa. They were followed by 1600 Ngati Toa 

and Te Ati-Awa warriors with many guns, from Kapiti and Waikanae coming up the 

coast to Whanganui. On arrival the reinforcements were ferried across the 

Whanganui River, most likely near to Kokohuia. 

With all of the reinforcements there were over 4,000 men supporting Te Ati Awa 

camped in separate places along the northern banks of the Whanganui River. 

Rangipito narrative outlined how, after the reinforcements arrived, it was proposed 

by many in the assemblage to attack Pukenamu, where the Taupo and Whanganui 

people still remained. However, strong objections were raised by Rauakitua and 

Tautara and the allied forces simply decided to leave, so as not to delay their arrival 

at Kapiti. It was now about the month of August the time for planting of crops. 

The majority of Tama-Te-Uaua heke continued south by land. The women and 

children, older people, and some warriors went by sea using the canoes taken from 

Whanganui. Hanataua ordered his people to return home. The Waikato and Taupo 

people also went home (Smith 1910a: 496). 

By contrast Smart and Bates offer a varying account which place this battle at 

Patupuhou, or in the vicinity of Cook9s Gardens with the Tuwharetoa warriors 

advancing from near the outfall of the Karamu Stream and meeting the Ati Awa party 

at Patupuhou (Smart & Bates 1972: 32-33). There were heavy losses on both sides, 

and later the battle shifted to Pukenamu where the Taranaki Maori made another 

stand. They record that both sides suffered severe casualties but Te Heu Heu lifted 

the siege and let Te Ati Awa proceed southward, while the Taupo people returned 

home. 

Another visit by a Tuwharetoa war party is noted in Whanganui history when Te Heu 

Heu and his brother, Iwikau, lead Ngati Turumakina, Ngati Hinemihi, Ngati 
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Rangiita, Ngati Te Aho as well as reinforcements from Waikato, Ngati Maniapoto 

and Te Arawa travelled down the Whanganui River to attack Ngati Ruanui and Nga 

Rauru (Grace 1966: 370-374). Grace wrote that early in January 1845 they: 

< .. reached Pukenamu, the hillock on which the art gallery stands. 

They camped close to the European settlement and there they 

remained making further preparations for their journey to 

Waitotara= (Grace 1966: 371). 

After some uncertainty the visit ended quietly with the Tuwharetoa travelling to 

Waitotara and then to Kapiti before returning upriver (Chapple & Veitch 1939: 53- 

56). 

In both accounts Pukenamu is recognised as a named landmark. 

6.3 Other sites on Pukenamu 

There have been human skeletal remains found at a number of locations in 

Pukenamu/Queen9s Park, but only one of these may be in the vicinity of the current 

project. An 1875 report noted that a skull and bones of a human being had been 

found <... at the back of the Rutland Stockade= (Fig. 13). The location description 

could mean the side of the Stockade facing Bell Street. Other reported burial 

locations are away from the gallery project. 

Remains or a Maori. 4 Sergeant+ 
Major Bezar informs tho < Wanganui 
Herald= that he discovered on the 18th 
at the back of the Rutland Stockade, the 

skull and bones of a human being. From 
the formation of the skull (the teeth of 

which are inexcellent preservation) Sergt.- 

Major Bezar conjectures that the remains 
are those of a Maori; probably one of 

those concerned in the affair of 1847. _ 

Figure 13: Newspaper report of finding human remains at the back of the Rutland 

Stockade. Potentially this may have been in the vicinity of the proposed works (Wanganui 
Chronicle 2 July 1875, p.2). 
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Figure 14: Bell Street looking towards the intersection with Ridgway Street. The early 
historic jail is located on the corner, adjoining the courthouse. The small cottages (on the 
right) are possibly military or squatters9 cottages. Note the white area partially obscured 
just beyond the second cottage. This is a large shell midden from earlier Maori 
occupation. The midden is on the edge of a terrace or level area that has been inundated 
by sand (Harding Collection Ref. No: 1/1-000190-G, Alexander Turnbull Library). 

Figure 15: The Bell and Ridgway Street intersection beside the early Whanganui 
courthouse and jail, which stood from 1855 to 1871. Note the area of shell midden above 
the court house to the right. The midden is the same one visible in Figure 14 from an 
earlier Maori occupation. The Whanganui River edge is in the foreground. The current 
gallery development is on the upper right in the photograph in the blacked out area 
(Harding Collection Ref. No: 1/1-000238-G, Alexander Turnbull Library). 
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Historic photographs of the Pukenamu/Queens9 Park sandhill also show evidence of 

past occupation there. A prominent shell midden, for example, is visible in 

photographs which were probably taken in the 1860s (Figs. 14 & 15), but the site now 

has been dug away with developments at the foot of the hill. 

An unusual observation reported in the Auckland Star (10 March 1928, p. 12) 

concerned a tradition preserved among the Maori people that at one time there was a 

volcano located under Pukenamu in the centre of Whanganui, and there was a tepid 

lake in the vicinity. The reporter offered that the early Europeans at Whanganui had 

noted sulphurous fumes coming from nearby cliffs during a number of earthquakes 

and that this <lent colour to such a possibility.= 

6.4 European Arrival and Development 

The European development of and history of the town and ports of Whanganui are 

well described in a number of published texts and reports (Attwell 2006; Chapple & 

Veitch 1939; Downes 1915; King 1970; McLauchlan 2012: 56-69; Smart & Bates 

1972). 

The Treaty of Waitangi was signed in Whanganui in May 1840 and later that month 

the New Zealand Company completed its <purchase= of approximately 40,000 acres 

(16,200 hectares) of land in the district. 

Whanganui is significant historically as an early city and as the second New Zealand 

Company settlement in New Zealand (Chapple & Veitch 1939; Smart and Bates 1972: 

48-56). European missionaries settled in Whanganui from 1840 with the first New 

Zealand Company settlers arriving in February 1841. The town was planned and 

surveyed by New Zealand Company at the start of the settlement. A plan from 1848 

shows the town lay-out, the district sections and land reserved for Maori (Fig. 16). 

The town initially was named Petre by the New Zealand Company. Most of the early 

occupation was close to the river and was focused in what is now the central area of 

the modern city. Each settler normally had a <town= section and house as well as a 

rural farm land allocation. 
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Figure 16: Figure shows the 1848 Map of the Settlement of Wanganui, New Zealand showing the 
land purchased from the Whanganui & other Maori as finally completed by Donald McLean in May 
1848. This map shows the land reserved for Maori in the 1848 negotiation (Whanganui Regional Museum). 

A regular shipping service to the settlement at Whanganui was began in 1841 by Jock 

McGregor after his first voyage to Whanganui in 1840 carrying passengers and stores 

from Wellington and returning with pigs and potatoes in the schooner Surprise. 

- The first plans of the proposed town at Whanganui were drawn by the N. Z. Company 

surveyors from 1842. The plans either show the town or the district (Figs. 17-19). The 

various plans show the Pukenamu/Queen9s Park Reserve, but only some of them 

name the reserve. None of the maps show significant detail of the park. Most of the 

maps do show the pa or villages of Putiki, the Putiki mission, Purua Pa, Pakaitore Pa, 

as well as Oneheke or Karamu village. Pakaitore and Purua pa are named on some of 

the maps. Some settler9s houses are also shown. 
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Figure 17: An 1842 N. Z. Company plan entitled <Map of the Town at Wanganui= Wét. 

<The Queen9s Park= and <Cooks Gardens= are marked and named. Allocated sections are 

marked with pink & proposed buildings in red (Archives N. Z.). 

Figure 18: Extract from N. Z. Company map, W6, Country Sections in the District of 

Wanganui, dated 16 May 1842. It does not show Queen9s Park, but does show pa, streams 

& other features (Archives N. Z.). 
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One 1842 plan entitled <Map of the Town at Wanganui= <shows the original N. Z. 

Company design for the town (Fig. 17). It names <The Queen9s Park= and shows a 

<PAH= on the river bank. This pa is Pakaitore. The map was signed by N.Z. 

Company9s Principal Surveyor, Charles Brees, on 11 October 1842. 

Another N. Z. Company map that shows country sections, (Fig. 18) was signed by 

Charles Brees, on 16 May 1842. It shows <Pah= at Purua, Pakaitore and another pa at 

the mouth of Churton9s (Karamu) Creek, possibly Oneheke. The pa and Pukenamu 

are not named. Settler Alexander9s house, Putiki Pah and the Rev Richard Taylor's 

mission at Putiki are also shown. The Waitangi Tribunal concluded the faint line that 

demarcates a larger area around the Pakaitore may represent a fence, and that the 

enclosed area was Pakaitore kainga (Waitangi Tribunal 2015: 282-283). 

Figure 19 shows a slightly later plan marked as a copy held at the N. Z. Company 

Land Office in Wellington. It shows contouring on Queen9s Park, but does not name 

the park it. Pa and other places are marked and named. 

Figure 19: N. Z. Company Land Office copy of map SO 10447, RP 550B, dated, 18 April 
1844. The map shows the Queen9s Park Reserve with some contours (but does not name 
it). It also shows Shakepear9s Cliff, Nixon9s Creek, Paikitari [Pakaitore], Purua, Churton9s9 
Creek, Kaiata, Putikiwaranui, & the chapel at Putiki (Archives N.Z.). 
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6.5 Land and Conflict at Whanganui 

The original purchase of the land caused tensions and efforts to renegotiate the deal 

were not successful. The land issue continued to cause dissatisfaction between all the 

parties and the settlers requested protection from the Crown. 

Governor Grey responded by sending a British military force to Whanganui (Fig. 20). 

Troops from the 58th Rutlandshire Regiment and Royal Artillery with two 12- 

pounder guns's were landed in Whanganui on 13 December 1846 under the 

command of Captain Laye. The group included Lieutenant Thomas Collinson9® 

(Springer 1993) from the Royal Engineers. 

On Thursday last, H.M.S. Calliope 
26, Capt, Stanley, and the Government 
brig Victoria, got under weigh for 
Wanganui, having on board 160 men of 
the 58th regiment, 11 of the armed police, 
and 6 artillerymen, the whole foreé bing 
under the command of Capt. Laye, Tho 
followias are the officers4 Cupt. Laye 
Lieuts, Balnevis, Hay, Pedder, Ensign 
Barker, Dr, Alleyne, and Lieut. Collin. 
son, RE 

Figure 20: Newspaper clipping describing the departure of forces sent to Whanganui in 

December 1846 (Wellington Independent 12 December 1846, p.1 1). 

On landing the force entrenched and commenced building fortifications, including 

the Rutland Stockade (See Section 6.6)!7. The families of the soldiers did not 

accompany the detachment. The stockade was sufficiently completed for the troops 

to move in by 22 March 1847 (Wellington Independent 27 March 1847, p. 3). 

In April 1847 the accidental wounding of Ngarangi minor chief resulted in an attack 

on the Gilfillan farm killing members of the family (Cowan 1955a: 137). Five of the 

perpetrators were captured, tried by a military court, and four were executed for 

murder in the Reserve on 26 April 1847. Their bodies were buried near to the 

location of the gallows. 

15 These two guns remain in Whanganui in Maria Place outside the local N. Z. Army facility. 
16 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Thomas_Bernard_Collinson 

17 Springer (2001b: 3) notes that at the time construction of the stockade was started the hill was 

occupied by an abandoned pa. 
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Up-river Maori were disaffected after the fighting in Wellington and the execution of 

their relatives. They formed a united expedition to attack the town with five or six 

hundred warriors, many armed with muskets or double barrelled guns. The principal 

chiefs were Topine te Mamaku, of Ngati-Hau-te-Rangi; Pehi Turoa; Mawae, of Ngati 

Ruaka; Tahana of Patu-tokotoko; Ngapara, and Maketu (Cowan 1955a: 138-140). 

Figure 21: A modern sketch plan of Whanganui in the1847. It shows the Queen9s Park, 
Rutland Stockade (Upper Stockade), the Lower Works, the York Stockade & the Lower 
Stockade. This is a draft map comparable to that shown in Smart and Bates (1972: 69) 
(Maxwell Smart papers, MS 1008, Alexander Turnbull Library). 

Tensions heighted and those settlers, who had not left for elsewhere, took refuge in 

the town and within its9 new defences with the troops (Fig. 21). The military 

remained alert and prepared for an attack. In May 1847 the up-river warriors began 

to raid and burn the out-lying rural settlers9 homes and then to besiege the town. 

Further military reinforcements arrived on 5 May 1847 on the brigantine Scotia and 

the schooner Edward Stanley. The ships brought 100 men of the 58" Regiment. 

Captain Laye offered free passage to Wellington on the Scotia to the town9s women 

and children. On its arrival in Wellington there were 28 passengers, mostly women 

and children, on board. It was hoped that the remainder would follow them. A 

newspaper report described how: 
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<At Wanganui the natives are in open rebellion against the authority 

of the Government. A large body of them, whose number is variously 

stated, but who are believed by those competent to form an opinion, to 

be near four hundred strong, are assembled before the stockade at 

Wanganui under Ngapara and Maketu, and Mamoku [sic] had either 

joined them, or was daily expected among them= (New Zealand 

Spectator and Cook's Strait Guardian 19 May 1847). 

The article continued stating that: 

<They come down in large numbers daily towards the stockade, firing 

their muskets after the Maori fashion, and taunting troops= (New 

Zealand Spectator and Cook's Strait Guardian 19 May 1847). 

The same day it was reported: 

<On the 8th [May 1847], it was asserted that the hostile natives were 

employed making covered ways in all directions in order to approach 

the stockade= (Wellington Independent 19 May 1847, p. 2). 

Captain Laye9s official dispatch on events stated that on 19 May 1847 large groups of 

Maori approached the town from different directions and took possession of the hills 

and several clay houses about the outskirts of town from. From here they kept up 

firing at the Upper Stockade, the Town (Lower) Stockade and the gun boat on the 

river. Captain Laye wrote that some of the attackers came within 30 yards (27.5 m) of 

the stockade. Most of the fighting took place near to the Lower Stockade. Next day 

the troops attacked the clay houses but found them empty. On 21 May 1847 Captain 

Laye reported that the enemy were <sitting on the hills= mourning the loss of their 

leaders Maketu and Tutua, who had been killed in the shooting, and their wounded 

(Wellington Independent 5 June 1847). 

By June 1847, with more reinforcements, there were 24 officers and 770 men from 

the 58th and 65 Regiments, Royal Artillery, Naval Brigade plus 50 <Ngatiawa= allies 

to protect the town (Collinson 1853: 39-40). 

On 20 July 1847 <The Battle of St John9s Wood= was fought between 400 British 

soldiers who advanced from the Rutland Stockade (along what is now Glasgow 

Street) and engaged a similar number of the Maori forces on the edge of St Johns 
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Hill'8. After a day of fighting, and no decisive victory, with limited fatalities on both 

sides, a truce was called, and the parties withdrew and the fighting came to an end 

(Cowan 1955a: 141-144; Pugsley 1995). 

In November 1847 the barque Eleanor Lancaster brought two more companies"? of 

the 65" Regiment to Whanganui. There were three officers, six sergeants, and 153 

rank and file, plus a detachment from the 588 Regiment (New Zealand Spectator and 

Cook's Strait Guardian 17 November 1847). 
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Figure 22: A part of a map of Whanganui showing Pukenamu/Queen9s Park in about 
1866. There are a line of buildings along the base of the sand dune, on which the art 
gallery is now located. These are labelled <Soldiers Huts=. The plan also shows the 
<Rutland Barracks=. There are 18 buildings outside of the stockade in the reserve. The 
presence of both of the two Christ Church churches on the plan dates it to 1866/67 
(Barnard & Allen 1866, Whanganui Regional Museum), 

8 In the vicinity of Glasgow and London Streets, the SH4 intersection, the Whanganui Collegiate golf 
course and Denby Place and Victoria Park. 
19 A company in the British army typically had 100-200 soldiers. 
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Governor Grey pressed for peace and on 21 February 1848 announced that he had 

reached agreement with Te Mamaku to end the hostilities. 

In 1852 the town became part of the Province of Wellington, which took over control 

of all reserves that were not under direct control of the Central Government. At that 

time shipping travelled 7 km up the river from the mouth to the town, where the port 

was established. After 1855, when Whanganui became a Port of Entry, local and 

overseas trade increased, particularly from Australia, and by the 1860s it was one of 

the busiest ports in the country (McLauchlan 2012: 62; Smart & Bates 1972: 98). 

By the early 1860s, Whanganui had more than 1,000 residents, plus over 2,000 

British troops were stationed there at times (Chapple and Veitch 1939: 110). In 1862 

legislated local government began in Whanganui in 1872 and it was constituted a 

Borough. 

Figure 23: Part of an historic map of Queen9s Park also from about 1866 or later, 

showing a reduced number of buildings across the flat area where the gallery extension 

will be located. The plan also shows the <Rutland Barracks=. The presence of both of the 

two Christ Church churches on the plan provides a date of 1866/67, but the map may be 

from a later date (Doyle c. 1866, Whanganui Regional Museum). 
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The population continued to grow with the clearance of the surrounding land for 

farming. The city bridge was opened in 1871, followed by the railway bridge and 

Wanganui was linked by rail to both New Plymouth and Wellington by 1886. The 

town was incorporated as a Borough in 1872 and declared a city in 1924. It was New 

Zealand9s fifth-largest city until 1936. 

6.6 Construction of the Rutland Stockade (1846-1870) 

In 1846, on arrival at Whanganui, the British military occupied Pukenamu/Queens 

Park, where they began by entrenching, and creating a defensive position. Then they 

began the construction of the Rutland Stockade on the high ground (Figs. 22-25) 

(Collinson 1853; Smart and Bates 1972: 67-69). 

In January 1847 a Wellington newspaper reported that most of the soldiers were 

employed in levelling and ditching the ground for a stockade. Numerous Europeans 

and Maori were engaged in felling and squaring trees in the woods for the stockade9s 

fortification (Wellington Independent 9 January 1847, p. 3). 

Figure 24: Lieutenant Collinson9s 1847 <Tracing of rough sketch of the stockades etc. at 
Wanganui on last day of the campaign July 1847=. The sketch shows Pukenamu hill and 
the Upper or Rutland Stockade as it was when first built. No other buildings are shown 
on the hill. The buildings and large compound on the river edge where Moutoa Gardens 
is now located (in the centre of the image) is the Gunboat Stockade. The gunboat (with 
oars) is visible in the river (Alexander Turnbull Library, Reference: A-292-069). 
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Wood for the construction was in short supply and Maori supplied the timber 

shipping it in rafts from 16 km (10 miles) up-river (where Kaiwhaiki is located). 

Lieutenant Collinson, the officer lead in the stockade construction, wrote: 

<As it was, there was considerable difficulty in constructing even the 

stockade. The only timber available was on the opposite side of the 

river, and a mile distant from the site; and the commander would not 

allow his men to go so far from the post, and the settlers, from fear of 

the natives, would not go even for liberal pay. Finally, the natives 

themselves came to our assistance, and were so roused by the unusual 

sight of ready money, that even some of our more doubtful friends up 

the river brought down rafts of timber from ten miles distance, to 

build a stockade for their invaders= (Collinson 1853: 39). 

nee" pa ae 

Figure 25: A lithograph published in Tyronne Power's book Sketches in New Zealand in 

1849 entitled <English Stockades and Fortified houses, Wanganui= showing the Rutland 

Stockade soon after it was first completed. Note the small size of the stockade & the outer 

defenses. There is no indication of a settlement behind the stockade on the right where 

the modern art gallery is located. 

By April 1847 the stockade had been completed. Illustrations from the period show 

that initially a small rectangular stockade was constructed on the high point of 

Queen9s Park where the Cenotaph now stands (Collinson 1847; Fig. 24)(Power 1849; 

Fig. 25). The palisading surrounding the stockade initially consisted of roughly sawn 

timber or whole logs sharpened to a point. These were later replaced with sawn 

timbers. The fortification evolved into a larger stockade with two blockhouses with 

overhanging upper stories. 

Archaeology North Ltd. Page 39 

0 
me

d 
N
e
n
e
 

K
n
e
e
 

| 
4
 

| 
[
a
 

) 
n
l
 

4
 

e
e
 

a
 

3 
a
e
 &
 

&
&
 

a
 

oa
) 

C
c



The town of Whanganui developed as a major military centre and became the third 

garrison town in New Zealand (Lovegrove n.d.; Springer 2001b). The stockade was 

manned by the British army for 23 years until 1870, after which it was used briefly by 

colonial troops. British Regiments associated with the stockade included the 18th 

(1865-1867), 57' (1861-1865), 58' (1847), and 65'» (1847-1861) Regiments and the 

Royal Artillery. 

At the beginning the troops lived in about 30 temporary raupo huts or whare built 

inside the stockade by local Maori in their own style. Collinson recorded that: 

<.temporary huts were built inside the stockade for the men; they 

consisted of rough poles, thatched with grass and reeds, used by the 
natives for this purpose= (Collinson 1853: 40). 

The roofs of these whare can be seen in Collinson9s drawing of the stockade (Fig. 24). 

Another description of the whare was written by Mr Tyrone Power from the military 

commissariat who also was involved with the building of the stockade: 

<From the scarcity of wood and stone, all the huts, both for men and 
officers, are built of reeds, wild flax, fern stalks and rushes; and some 

of them are not only very comfortable, but are also highly 
ornamental= (Power p. 80). 

The troops mainly cooked outside the stockade, using wood supplied to the stockade 

under contract to the commissariat, although there was cookhouse in the stockade. 

Water was initially to be supplied from a tank, filled by hand from the river, but when 

the disturbances interfered with the works, the men were obliged for some time to 

get water from wells sunk in the flat below (Collinson 1853: 39). 

With the arrival of detachments of the 65th Regiment from Auckland and Wellington 

the high ground on Papatuhou/Cooks Gardens sand hill was fortified, and called the 

York Stockade?°. Collinson noted, in a letter to his mother on 7 May 1847 from 

Whanganui, that all the timber he had got ready for the construction of the Rutland 

Stockades blockhouses, including some from a mill at Auckland, was used for the 

20 The York Stockade is recorded as NZAA site R22/253. Only a small remnant of the site has survived. 
The stockade was demolished in 1869 or 1870. 
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York stockade= (Springer 2001b: 6). Later in 1847 timber was shipped up from 

Nelson to complete the stockades (Wellington Independent 4 August 1847, p. 2, 22 

December 1847). 

Troops of the 58' Regiment travelled to Auckland and Wellington in November 1847 

ending the regiments association with Whanganui (Springer 2001b: 12). The 58 

Regiment left Auckland, New Zealand in November 1858 bound for Portsmouth, 

U.K. 

In May 1848, the government re-negotiated the purchase of the Whanganui block. 

The land purchased included Queen9s Park and it was shown on a map produced in 

1848 (based on the 1842 N. Z. Company map of Whanganui), but again it showed no 

details of the park. 

The garrison strength in Wanganui at the end of 1847 was 500 men of the 65th 

Regiment. This was reduced and by the early months of 1856 it appears to have been 

reduced to about 200 men, a level maintained until 1864 (Springer 2001b: 12). The 

65th Regiment continued to occupy the Rutland stockade, with the buildings on the 

York Stockade used in as an operational base in 1849 while the Rutland Stockade was 

rebuilt. It was also used for accommodation of married troops, as a transit camps and 

for stores. Occupation by Imperial troops continued in Whanganui with periodic 

replacement of detachments. 

A census published in January 1847 (Wellington Independent 15 January 1848) gave 

the totals for the military population in Whanganui. It recorded 425 military adult 

males, 39 adult females and 49 children (28 female and 21 male). 

In January 1861 the 57th (West Middlesex) Regiment, landed in Auckland having 

come from service in India. A detachment was sent to Whanganui in April 1861 

under Major Logan to replace the 65th Regiment garrison at the Rutland Stockade. 

Further 57th reinforcements arrived in Whanganui in December 1861. During 1864 

the 57th Regiment also moved their headquarters to Whanganui. 
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During 1864 the rise of the new faith Pai marire lead to the Battle of Moutoa 

between Maori, followed by further fighting on the river in 1865 (Cowan 1955b: 30- 

45; Smart & Bates 1972: 101-12). 

By May 1864 the troop strength at Whanganui was about 700 men (Wanganui 

Chronicle 28 May 1864, p. 3) with more detachments from the 57th Regiment, plus 

others including the 50th (Queen9s Own Royal West Kent) Regiment, and the second 

battalion of the 18th (Royal Irish) Regiment. 

Governor Sir George Grey, assembled a force for the invasion of South Taranaki in 

Whanganui from late 1864, bringing a large increase in the number of troops in the 

town (Cowan 1955b: 46-60). Redoubts were built outside the town including at 

Aramoho, near to Virginia Lake, Kai Iwi, and at Brunswick (Smart & Bates 1972: 116- 

119). 

In the December 1864 the Falcon and the Eclipse arrived with a detachment 

consisting of 17 officers and 499 rank and file of the 50th Regiment and one officer 

and 29 men of the Royal Artillery with two 6-pounder Armstrong guns. These troops 

were accommodated in tents on Tylee9s Flat in Wilson Street, and probably including 

the old flat area at the rear entrance to Cooks Gardens (Wanganui Chronicle 31 

December 1864, p.2). By early 1865 there were 1156 men in the camp, plus medical 

staff, surveying staff, and the Commissariat. In addition, there were 114 men of the 

supply train with well over 100 horses (Springer 2012). 

On 3 January 1865 the force left Whanganui for a new base at Alexander9s Farm2! at 

Mowhanau Beach. It consisted of 650 men of the 50th Regiment and 380 of the 57th 

Regiment and two 6-pounder Armstrong guns with 20 men of the Royal Artillery. 

The next day further reinforcements consisting of 83 men of the 50th Regiment and 

454 of the second battalion of the 18th Regiment, with 50 men of the Royal Artillery 

landed in Wanganui. On 6 January 35 further men and 44 horses from the Military 

Transport Corps landed from a steam ship, with a further 73 men and 78 horses 

arrived on 16 January 1865. On the 20th Lieutenant-General Cameron arrived. The 

*1 Alexander9s Redoubt was built there after the force marched north. It is NZAA site R22/145, near to 
the end of Peat Avenue, Mowhanau. 
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next day another 45 men and horses of the Military Transport Corps landed 

(Wanganui Chronicle 21 January 1865, p.3). In total there were over 113 officers and 

3315 men. A detachment of troops remained as the garrison in Whanganui. 

By this time the Imperial British forces had begun to leave as the new colonial self- 

reliant military policy was coming into effect (Springer 2012: 21). The 65th was one 

of the first regiments to leave and by the end of March 1866 four of the ten regiments 

that had been stationed in New Zealand had left. Only one complete regiment was 

left in the country, with the towns of Auckland and Whanganui remaining garrisoned 

by the Imperial troops (Cowan 1955b: 57-58). 

In 1865-66 a second campaign, under Major General Chute took place (Cameron had 

resigned). Chute9s much smaller force consisted of 510 Imperial troops, 40 Forest 

Rangers, 150 Native Contingent and three 6-pounder guns. Chute9s march north 

virtually emptied Whanganui of its garrison. His march reached New Plymouth and 

resulted in widespread destruction of crops, stock and most the pa and villages 

through South Taranaki. The force returned to Whanganui with some of the 57th 

Regiment arriving back at Whanganui in late March 1866. They sailed for Onehunga 

on 16 April 1866 (Springer 2001b: 22). 

The troops of the 18 Royal Irish Regiment remained as the garrison in Whanganui, 

so it was not left undefended. They had limited involvement in further battles, which 

were being fought by the colonial forces, including their Maori allies. The 18% 

Regiment finally left Whanganui in January 1870, ending 24 years of continuous 

occupation of Whanganui by Imperial troops. 

The soldiers9 settlement huts remained in use by the military until August 1867 when 

the 18th Regiment first left and the settlement was vacated (Fig. 22). However, the 

Regiment returned in October 1867, finally leaving on 23 January 1870. Part of the 

Stockade was then used as a civil prison from 1872, with other parts used as an 

immigration barracks and cookhouse. These structures were all reasonably remote 

from the current gallery extension project. The stockade buildings were demolished 

between 1883 and 1887, when the beautification of the reserve began. 
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6.7 The Soldiers9 Settlement and Army Wives and Children 

Fundamental to the assessment of the soldiers9 settlement is an understanding of 

how many families lived there, who they were, how they lived and when they arrived 

in Whanganui. The historic review above indicated that the standard garrison at 

Whanganui was about 200 imperial troops. The troops were based at Whanganui 

between 1846 and 1870. Married troops were provided with housing in the vicinity of 

the stockade. A surveyor9s map from about 1866 shows the area proposed for the 

development of the gallery extension as 8Soldiers Huts9 indicating that this was the 

place where a concentration of the troops live (Fig. 22). It is probable that some of 

the other huts scattered about the hill and between the two stockades were also 

occupied by married troops. Kirk (1994: 11) wrote that the married men were given 

an allowance and had to find their own accommodation for their wives and families. 

Marriage of the rank and file within the British army was controlled and had to be 

permitted by the Commanding Officer. Permission was only granted to a set small 

proportion of men (about 7%). Almost the same proportion (6%) was allowed to 

bring their wives to live in barracks. The year 1867 was the first time that army 

regulations specified the numbers of married troops permitted. The regulations 

allowed all of the regimental staff sergeants to marry, 60% of sergeants, and 7% of 

the ranks (Trustram 1984: 46). It was necessary to have served for seven years and 

have at least one good conduct badge to be considered for marriage. 

An estimate based on 6% of 200 troops would indicate that about 14 of the men were 

married. However, as more sergeants were allowed to marry the number may have 

been slightly higher, possibly about 20. 

When the 58th Regiment reached Whanganui in 1847 the town was preparing for an 

attack and was soon readying for a siege. On arrival the troops created defended 

positions, with the (first) Rutland Stockade and the Lower Stockade. Some of soldiers 

were billeted in the Commercial Hotel, within the Lower Stockade (Fig. 21), and 

others occupied the settlers houses (many of which had been abandoned). Many of 

the civilian Europeans residing Whanganui had left for Nelson and Wellington as the 

crisis developed. 
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The standard tour of duty in Whanganui appears to have been two years, with 

replacements arriving at roughly at that interval. Those who were married brought 

their wives and families with them. The army at the time was noted for freeing men 

from their obligations to their families, as from 1837 soldiers were exempted from 

any obligation to provide support for their wives and children (Trustram 1984: 50). 

One source of information about army wives and children is the shipping records 

published regularly in the newspapers. These provide a record of the movement of 

women and children <belonging= to the different regiments. Records indicate that 

the first military wives and children that came to Whanganui from Wellington or 

Auckland followed their soldier-husbands when a situation there became safe and 

convenient. 

The first record located was from March 23 1847 when the cutter, Hero, departed 

Wellington for Whanganui with flour, rum and baggage, and 11 women and 22 

children <belonging to the 58 Regiment= (Wellington Independent 24 March 1847, 

Shipping News). There were 160 troops of the 58'» Regiment, so 11 women would 

indicate a lower ratio of marriage than generally permitted but some regiments did 

maintain a lower marriage ratio (and some had higher ratios) (Trustram 1984: 30, 

Table 3.3 & 3.5). 

On 16 September 1847 the schooner Governor Grey arrived in Whanganui with two 

sergeants, two privates from the 65" regiment and 40 women and children, 

presumably the families of the regiment (New Zealand Spectator and Cook's Strait 

Guardian 18 September 1847, p.2). The Governor Grey repeated the voyage to 

Whanganui on 13 October 1847 with eight women and six children for the regiment 

(New Zealand Spectator and Cook's Strait Guardian 16 October 1847, p. 2). 

Whanganui historical writer Athol Kirk (1994) wrote that in 1848 after the peace was 

made, Maori were engaged to erect 32 raupo whare on the flat area where the Davis 

Library now stands. The area selected as the military housing settlement in Queen9s 

Park remained in use until the 18th Royal Irish Regiment left finally Whanganui on 

23 January 1870. The regiment left Whanganui on in August 1867, but then returned 

in October 1867 remaining until 1870. 

Archaeology North Ltd. Page 45



ao
e 

oa
 

ne
n 

co
m 

Bo
n 

Mi
te
 

Mi
co
n,
 
Mi

te
 

it
em

 
Mi
en
. 

| 

In their history of Wanganui Smart and Bates note that: 

<Men with wives and families were given a daily allowance and 

expected to provide their own accommodation. The housing position 

was overcome to some extent by the building of several large raupo 

whares on the ground where the Queen9s Park School later stood. In 

these whares they lived in comparative comfort for some years, but 

the presence of the whares almost in the centre of the settlement 

contravened the purpose of 8The Raupo House Ordinance Act9. It was 
necessary for the authorities to pass an amendment to this Act and on 

7 March 1853 this notice appeared in the Press: - <This Act exempts 

certain whares constructed wholly, or in part of raupo, toi toi or 

similar material, situated within the boundaries of Wanganui, from 

the penalty of the Act of the 3rd March, 1842, so long as the above 

whares shall be used as barracks by Her Majesty9s troops stationed in 
Wanganui= (Smart & Bates 1972: 78). 

Supplies for the troops still had to be maintained and tenders were frequently called 

for in the local paper. These notices drew attention to the fact that the supply of food 

and other items made the garrison a feature of the Wanganui economy. In February 

1858 tenders were called for supply of food and condiments to military hospitals 

including that at Wanganui. Items specified were meat, bread, flour, arrowroot, sago, 

rice, pearl barley, green tea, black tea, coffee, sugar, oatmeal, salt, pepper (white and 

black), mustard, butter, potatoes, vegetables soap, cloves, ginger, cinnamon, lemons, 

oranges, eggs, fowls, milk, vinegar, lime juice, English ale or porter, port wine, 

sherry, brandy, bottled ale, lemonade and soda water (Wanganui Chronicle 11 

February 1857, p.2). 

The paper noted that on 2 June 1864 the Prince Alfred was back in Whanganui and 

came up to Taylor & Watt9s wharf with another 150 men of the 578 together with 20 

wives and 42 children (Wanganui Chronicle 4 June 1864, p.4). 

Further research in to the families of the troops and their lives would be warranted. 

Archaeology North Ltd. Page 46



Figure 26: Overlooking Whanganui from Shakespeare Cliff, about 1870. The area of the 

proposed development is in the centre of the image to the right of the Rutland Stockade 

(Photograph taken by William Harding Alexander Turnbull Library Ref 1/1-000201-G). 

Figure 26a: Extract from Figure 26 above showing cottages along the foot of sand dune 

where the Sarjeant Gallery is now located, & another group further to the east on the edge 

of the 8flat9 area towards the right in the image. The sand dune on which the gallery is 

now located is behind the three cottages lightly left of centre & can be seen in Figure 26, 

the complete image above. The building on the right may have a whare style roof & could 

be earth walled. The other buildings are wood. 

Archaeology North Ltd. Page 47 



| 
a
n
 

n
s
 

n
s
 
S
n
 

ii
i 

* nt = TeSys 4_ ah f . ree De 8 met . 

Figure 27: Three cottages in a row at the back of the sand dune where the gallery is now 
located. More are located on the flat area on the hill. The old court house just visible in 
photograph) was replaced and the Girl9s School in Queen9s Park was opened in 1871, so 
this photograph must pre-date 1871 (Alexander Turnbull Library 1-1-000292-G). 

Figure 27a: Extract from Figure 27 showing cottages along the foot of sand dune where 
the Sarjeant gallery is now located, & another group further to the east on the 8flat9 area 
on towards the right in the image. The sand dune ridge on which the gallery is now 
located is behind the three cottages, slightly left of centre, & which can be seen in Figure 
27, the complete image above. 
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6.8 The Rookery and The Squatters 

After the military settlement in Queen9s Park was abandoned by the military the 

whare or cottages were subsequently occupied by squatters and the area became 

known as <The Rookery= (Smart & Bates 1972: 79-80). This is the area that is located 

behind the existing Sarjeant Gallery and where the library stands (Figs. 26 & 27). 

A description of the Rookery in the Whanganui Herald in 1870 stated: 

The "Rookery."4Frequent complaints have been made lately to the 

police, who are powerless in the matter, about the class of people who 

have assembled on the Rutland Hill adjoining the stockade. The 

soldiers, when stationed there, had erected a number of toi-toi 

whares, in which their families resided, and when they left Wanganui 

those whares were left standing and were gradually taken possession 

of and occupied by a number of exquisites, who have obtained for 

their locale the suggestive name of the 8 Rookery.9 There is, we believe, 

an act or ordinance which forbids the existence of toi-tot whares 

within the boundaries of the town. While the military remained an 

exception was formed, but there is no occasion why the law should not 

now be enforced... If the place is such a rendezvous for questionable 

characters as the police positively affirm, the authorities should put 

whatever law does exist in force to burn or destroy the 8Rookery9 

(Wanganui Herald 7 November 1870, p. 2). 

In 1872 after Whanganui town was incorporated as a Borough, Queen9s Park passed 

to the jurisdiction of the new council, and <The Rookery= was demolished and burnt 

(Kirk 1994: 11- 12). It was generally believed that the reserve was common ground 

and those without means then built wooden cottages on the reserve. By 1875 there 

were reported to be at least 30 cottages or shacks of these dwellings scattered over 

and around the hill. Some small wooden cottages are visible in photographs from the 

early 1870s onwards (Figs. 26 & 27). Water was obtained from the well that had 

supplied the Rutland Stockade. Granny Dalton is perhaps the best known of the 

Rookery residents (Crawford 2016; Kirk 1994: 36). 

Information on the Rookery is scarce and the only other reference to the Rookery in 

the on-line newspapers was in a letter addressed to municipal candidates asking 

whether they were: 
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<..1n favour of a report on the best means of transforming the Queens 

Park from huge dust heap and rookery into something worthy of the 

name of a Park? (Wanganui Herald 23 September 1879, p. 2). 

In 1880 the Borough Council decided to level and beautify the area (Kirk 1989: 12). 

Prisoners were used in the planting and landscaping work. In September 1880 an 
article the Whanganui Herald read: 

The "city of the sand-hills" is being transformed into the city of 

gardens. No better or healthier sites for private residences than these 

same unsightly sand-hills can be found, of which we have ample 

evidence. Their very ugliness is made an element of beauty, as the 

imagination, looking a few years into the future, can picture in the 

case of Cook's Garden (Wanganui Herald 29 September 1880, p.2). 

Figure 28: Photograph from the 1890s showing the school on the hill to the right of the 
stockade in the image. The school opened in 1879 and the stockade was demolished by 
1887. No cottages are visible in the park (Whanganui Regional Museum WR-TR-129). 
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6.9 The Queen9s Park Schools 

The northeast section of the Queen9s Park Reserve was given to the Education Board 

and several schools were on the site from 1880 until 1977. The Diamond Jubilee 

Booklet for Queen9s Park School states that the earliest known educational 

establishment was an army school run by the commander of the stockade. It was set 

up near the site where Queen9s Park School was built (Anon 1954). At that time 

private schools filled the need for education in Whanganui. 

In 1879 the Girls9 School or Girls9 High School opened in the park, under Miss S. 

Blythe, with four assistants (Fig. 28). She retired in 1905. In February 1905 three 

class rooms at the school were burnt down. The same year Mr H. M. Payne was 

appointed as Headmaster. The school also changed its name to Queen9s Park and 

stopped being a girls-only school. In 1903 attendance was 322. Another fire in 1917 

saw the school almost destroyed. A new school was opened by the Minister of 

Education in 1921. The school was demolished in 1977. 

6.10 Sarjeant Art Gallery and Band Rooms 

The history of the construction and development of the Sarjeant Art Gallery is 

comprehensively covered by Cochran (2012). 

Earthworks for the gallery began in 1917. During the earthworks for the construction 

a press report stated that <some interesting relics= had been found on the site (Fig. 

29). The Indian coins are relevant as the 57t Regiment came to Whanganui after 

service in India. 

_ As the result of the excavating work 
for the Art Gallery site on Queen9s 
Park, some interesting relics of early 
Wanganui are being found. During 
the past few days a number of military 
buttons have been dissovered, of the 
kind worn by the soldiers who gar- 
risoned the town during the Maori war. 
Several Indian coins have also come to 
light. The search for treasure trove 
has become quite an established indus- 
try among the children. 

Figure 29: Press report on the excavations at the Sarjeant Art Gallery (Wanganui Chronicle 

20 June 1927). 

Archaeology North Ltd. Page 51



4
=
4
 

=
 

=
>
 

7
 

N
a
 

S
a
 

a 
s
e
 

Another newspaper reported that the workmen had been busy for several weeks 

carrying out finishing works on the site of the Sarjeant Gallery levelling the surface 

and forming roads round the building (Wanganui Herald 6 September 1919). 

The foundation stone for the gallery was laid in 1917 and it was opened in September 

1919 by the Prime Minister (Wanganui Herald 8 September 1919, p. 2). 

The other building that stands on the development area is the band room. This will 

be affected by a services renewal and a change of road access and parking. 

The original band room stood where the Peace Sculpture is now located. The building 

was moved to its present site in 1935 and extended. In 1996 the building was 

destroyed by fire. A new band room was built on the same site and Wanganui Brass, 

formed by an amalgamation of the Wanganui Garrison Band and City Brass, operates 

from this building. When the new band room was built the Wanganui Chronicle 

reported that <two black powder musket cartridges= were uncovered on the site of 

the new <Wanganui Garrison Band Hall= at Queen9s Park. They were found by a 

retired man who was reported to have been <fossicking around in the freshly dug 

ground which forms the foundations for the new building= (Wanganui Chronicle 1 

October 1998). 

The cartridges were later identified as <577 Enfield cartridges=. These cartridges 

were used primarily in the Snider4Enfield rifle that replaced the .577 calibre muzzle- 

loading rifled musket, used by British forces from 1853 to 1867. The Enfield 1853 

rifle-muskets were able to be converted to the cartridge-loaded Snider4Enfield rifle. 

The first of the new Snider rifles in New Zealand were issued to a detachment of the 

18th Royal Irish Regiment who were posted to Wellington The detachment had been 

<furnished with the new pattern Snider rifle, and for the last week have been 

drilled to the new mode of loading and firing= (Daily Southern Cross 14 March 1868, 

p. 3). The rifles were also issued to another detachment of the 18t that arrived in 

Napier in March 1868 (Evening Post 18 March 1868, p. 2). The guns were reported as 

being used on the firing range for the first time in November of that year (Evening 

Post 23 November 1868, p. 2). By September 1869 the New Zealand government had 

received 1,900 Snider Rifles from British stores. 
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7.0 Previous Archaeological Work 

<Pukenamu= was recorded as the archaeological site R22/440 with the New Zealand 

Archaeological Association (NZAA) site recording file (now on-line as ArchSite22) in 

2001 (Fig. 30). It was recorded as a <stockade/pa/settlement= in Queen9s Park 

Reserve. The complete NZAA original site paper record is included here as Appendix 

A. The current ArchSite site record is Appendix B. Some of the material on the paper 

NZAA form was not included when the NZAA site record system became ArchSite 

and was centralised and digitised. 

Figure 30: Map, from NZAA ArchSite, showing the location of recorded archaeological 

sites in the Central Business District of Whanganui town. Most of the sites are of 

European historic origin. Site R22/440, the archaeological remains on Pukenamu- 

Queens Park, is the only recorded archaeological site that will be affected by the 

development. 

Figure 30 shows the archaeological sites recoded in Whanganui city, most of which 

are of historic European origin. 

22 http://www.archsite.org.nz 
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Seven previous Historic Places Trust23 (HNZPT) Authorities have been issued for 

work in Queen9s Park. No archaeological evidence of Maori occupation has been 

located within the park during work undertaken under the NZHPT Authorities. 

The largest scale archaeological work took place in 2002 under Authority No. 

2002/175 on 70 m section of the Centennial Walk footpath, which runs from the 

south-eastern end of the park to the Cenotaph. Archaeological structures located 

during these excavations included an original stockade fence; the remains of the 

1870s Wanganui prison perimeter fence, the prison floor, and other features 

associated with the. Quantities of artefacts, including regimental buttons and badges, 

bullets, percussion caps, glass, broken ceramics, clay pipes, animal bones, and a 

variety of other objects of historic origin were recovered during the excavations, and 

these are awaiting analysis for a final report (Taylor 2002). 

The initial report on the Cenotaph footpath archaeological excavations concluded 

that the discovery of significant intact archaeological remains would have 

implications for future management and interpretation of Queen9s Park as the park 

represented an archaeological landscape with considerable potential and that the 

survival of intact archaeological remains in the park was variable and their location 

does not appear to be readily predictable due to landscaping of the park over time. 

The most recent work in the park was archaeological monitoring during up-grade 

work by WDC of the area surrounding the Cenotaph, on the high point of the reserve, 

under, NZHPT Authority No. 2010/218 (Taylor & Sutton 2011). The refurbishment 

work included replacement of the concrete paving and steps surrounding the 

Cenotaph, laying of replacement power cabling, and removal of a nearby large pine 

tree, including its stump and some of the roots. No in-situ archaeological remains 

were identified during the restoration of the Cenotaph. The investigations did reveal 

considerable detail of the Cenotaph construction and helped to ensure that the 

archaeological remains of the Rutland Stockade were not disturbed. 

23 The name of New Zealand Historic Places Trust was changed to Heritage New Zealand Pouhere 
Taonga (HNZPT) in 2014. 
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Other work included the construction of a wheel chair ramp to the Sarjeant Art 

Gallery and other work under Authority No. 2009-150. Monitoring under Authority 

No. 2006/222 to upgrade the Veterans Steps revealed no archaeological remains. 

Authority No. 2004/206, for storm water separation, and Authority No. 2002/03, 

for the installation of a storm water sump, uncovered limited evidence of the 19' or 

early 20t century use of the area. Work under Authority No. 2002/27, for the 

construction of the Millennium Peace Sculpture on the site of the old band rooms, 

uncovered considerable archaeological evidence including remains of dumping from 

the stockade9s barracks and fireplaces and awaits analysis. 

No evidence of Maori occupation has been located in the park during archaeological 

work undertaken under the HNZPT Authorities. Historic newspaper reports indicate 

that human remains have been found in the past in and near to the park (Fig. 13). 

Pre-1900 middens are visible in pre-1900 historical photographs (Figs. 14 & 15) and 

a small midden remnant was recorded under the nearby courthouse in 2010. 

8.0 Scope of Gallery Work 

The scope of the proposed gallery development is presented in a series of figures, 

with the new gallery construction and service plans provided in Appendices C and D. 

Summaries of the work are contained in this report as Figure 31 for the earthworks 

and Figure 32 for all works. An accompanying table provides details of the works 

(Table 1). 

Briefly the gallery extension involves the excavation of an area approximately 50 m x 

51 m, with a 41 m x 40 m footprint to a depth of 5.5 m, to construct a three-level 

addition at the rear of the existing Sarjeant Art Gallery (Figs 2, 4-9; 31-35; Appendix 

C). A batter about 5 m wide around the whole of the main excavation will be 

necessary, for practical and safety reasons, as the hole is being dug into sand. 

The extension will include a new entrance to the gallery, a reception area, exhibition 

spaces, function and meeting rooms, a cafe, a shop, staff offices and toilets, a lift, a 

basement loading area, as well as new storage and exhibition preparation areas. 
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SARJEANT ART GALLERY | 

EXTENSION EARTHWORKS 

Summary: 

150mm Topsoil strip 778m3 

| Bulk excavation 9,710m3 
| | 
| Ground retention buttress beam 20m3 

Foundation detailed excavation 320m3 

Total 10,828m3 

Figure 31: This plan shows the area of the main earthworks for the gallery project. The 

secondary earthworks including for the installation of services are not shown. 
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Figure 32: Summary of works for the Sarjeant Art Gallery extension project (see Table 

ndix C for more detailed building drawings & Appendix D for services. 
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Table 1: Schedule of primary earthworks for the Sarjeant Art Gallery extension project 

(See Figure 32). 

CIVIL & EARTHWORKS 

AREA ID DIMENSIONS AREA m# VOLUME m: DESCRIPTION 
A 55m x 1.5m x 1m 90 90 Excavate for new watermain 

B 6m x 6m x 2m 40 80 Remove existing basement entry and reinstate / landscape 

c 10.5m x 10m x 2m. 110 210 Excavate for new plant/services room 
D 13mx4.5mx500mm | __ 60 30 Remove existing road and relayed with permeable pavers 
E 7am x 5.5m x 4.5m 400 1300 Excavate for new access road (Option B) 
F 86m x 1.8m x 200mm 160 30 Excavate for new footpath 

G 13m x 21m x 1.5m 280 410 Excavate for new terminal manholes 

H 25m x 16m x 500mm 280 140 Removal of top soil 

| 12m x 4m x 2m 60 120 Removal of old soak pits (2m deep) 

J 50m x 51m x5.5 2550 12000 Excavate for new building 
K 78m x 8.5m x 4m 650 2400 Excavate for new stormwater and wastewater services 
L 3 Poles - - Three Temporary Service poles to service existing buildings during works (Augured) 
M 18m x 3m x4m 60 220 Excavate for new stormwater and wastewater services 
N 15m x 14.5m x 1.5m 220 330 Excavate for new carpark 

° 70m x 2m x 1.5m 140 220 Excavate for new stormwater soak pits (x2 soak pits DN900 x 6m deep) 
P 15m x 3m x 1m 50 50 Excavate for new stormwater soak pits overflow(Option 1) 
Q 40m x 43m x 150mm | 1720 260 Removal of top soil 
R 40m x 2m x 2m 80 160 Excavate for new stormwater soak pits overflow to new stormwater manhole(Option 2) 

s 35m x 3m x 1.5m 110 160 Excavate for new stormwater, wastewater, gas and power services 

i 22m x 2.4m x2m 60 120 Excavate for new wastewater service 

|BASEMENT ACCESSWAY & CARPARK 

|ACCESSWAY OPTION 1 
[AREAID [DIMENSIONS [AREA m2 [VOLUME m3 DESCRIPTION 

U 50x8x4.5 400 1800 Excavate for carpark and basement access 
Vv 11x4.5%23 50 15 Excavate for batters for retaining wall 
WwW 35x4.5x2.3 160 370 Excavate for batters for retaining wall 

X 46x2x15 100 150 Excavate for batters 
y 15x2.5x1 40 40 Fill & excavate for batters 
2 40x3X1 120 120 Excavate for batters 

AA 45x3x3 140 420 Excavate for batters 
BB 8.5x3x1 30 30 Excavate for batters 
cc 4x7x 500mm 30 15 Excavate for access road vehicle crossing 

|ACCESSWAY OPTION 2 

AREA ID DIMENSIONS AREA m= VOLUME m* DESCRIPTION 
oD 25x12x0.15 200 30 Excavate to match into existing road 
EE 20x9x4.5 180 810 Excavate for access way and turning area 
FF 22x9x4.5 200 700 Excavate for basement access 

GG 40x15x4.5 400 800 Excavate for carpark and basement access 

HH 15x 5x 700mm 80 60 Fill area 

New service installation includes water, sewerage, storm water, gas and electricity for 

the new building, the existing gallery, and some services to the band room. Water 

pipes will be trenched into the front of the gallery (Fig. 32). Waste water and other 

services will be trenched following the existing foot path to Bell Street as shown 

above (Fig. 32). This foot path is also the route for Option 2 for upgrading to a truck 

access way to the gallery basement and band rooms (See below). Existing stormwater 

for the area, including the expanded carpark and the library, will need additions, up- 

grades, renewal and the removal of the old soak pits (Fig. 32) (Appendix D). 
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Figure 33: Options for the vehicle access to the new gallery extension basement. Option 

1 follows down the existing foot path to Bell Street. This will require widening of the track 

to allow vehicles. Most of the new services are also following this path. Option 2 runs 

from the basement to the east up to the road above. Access is to the band rooms is 

included with each option. 

Two options are under consideration for the construction of an access to the new 

gallery basement (Fig. 33, Table 1). Option 1 is also shown in Figure 32 (the red strip 

to the right). The size of the excavation for the two options includes an allowance for 

battering of the sand slope during construction. The access will need to 

accommodate truck deliveries. One option will be chosen later next year. 

A temporary power supply for the project will need to be installed from Bell Street to 

the construction site (Fig. 32). This will run beside the existing track and is expected 

to require three poles. Further lighting will also be added towards the completion of 

the project (Fig. 34) 

Archaeology North Ltd. Page 59 

B
e
m
a
 

e
r
F
w
w
F
 

R
e
a
 

n
e
p
P
B
e
e
a
 

EB
 

a
 

S
e
 
B
P
E
 

r
F
e
a
q
a
 

q
 



a
 

on
 
l
s
 

[20190308 Landscape 
Lighting Scope Mark-up 

Hi 

Figure 34: Showing proposed lighting and ducting necessary at the completion of the 
extension construction. 
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Figure 35: Plan of the existing Sarjeant Gallery showing extent of the proposed work & 
the estimates of excavations. Potentially some of these excavations could encounter 
archaeological remains. 
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Most of the work on the existing Sarjeant Gallery is to the structure itself, which 

post-dates 1900 and does not require an archaeological Authority from HNZPT. The 

work also involves structural and seismic strengthening to the existing gallery. This 

work will require some earthworks. Other works include refurbishment of the 

interior and exterior of the gallery and improvements to the interior environmental 

control, lighting and storage facilities. The scope of this work, and depth of 

excavation estimates, are provided in the plan and schedule in Figure 35. 

Strengthening of the building requires the use of multiple new ground beams and 

footings as detailed above. Fill will be compacted on the existing or excavated ground 

surface to enable new floor slabs to be laid. Final details are operational decisions 

made as the construction proceeds and as areas under the building are able to be 

accessed. 

The gallery and extension work will require an area for operations, truck movement, 

deliveries and storage adjoining the construction site (Figs. 31 & 32). This will 

require top-soil stripping and then adding a hard surface such as shell-rock. It will be 

later restored to grass. Storm water work is also required in some of the operations. 

This will occur towards the end of project. 

Ten or more of the trees on the construction site will be removed. Some of these are 

protected trees. Stumps will need to be removed. 

The roads near the gallery and band rooms will be closed and removed. One of the 

options proposed for new gallery extension basement will also provide access to the 

band rooms, a band room carpark and a turning area. A temporary access to the 

band room may be necessary. A trench for services shown on Figure 32 and detailed 

in Table 1 will be necessary to connect the band room to the service trench down the 

old foot path to Bell Street. This will be necessary regardless of which basement 

access option is chosen. It is not shown on the figures. 

The existing Davis Library car parking area will be extended to accommodate 

additional car parking spaces (Fig. 32). Some kerbside parking spaces will be 

removed from Pukenamu Drive in from of the Sarjeant Gallery to widen the 

carriageway, but this will not require earthworks. The existing loading bay and 
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workshop at the rear of the gallery will be removed and the ground restored (Fig. 32). 

The construction and installation of other minor facilities including, for example 

footpaths, lighting, bike parks will be undertaken. 

Finally landscaping will be undertaken towards the end of the project. This will 

include some earth movement for restoration of the fenced area, gardens and planted 

areas, and new tree planting. 

There will be substantial earthworks to achieve the gallery9s objectives. 

9.0 Research Results 

The history of the site suggests a variety of archaeological evidence may be present 

on the development site. The area immediately at the rear of the existing Sarjeant 

Gallery, the public roadway covered in tar seal, the grassed slope with the trees and 

the flat grass beyond will all be excavated for construction and any archaeological 

remains there will be destroyed. Similarly the areas proposed for the new delivery 

access to the gallery basement and related earthworks have an archaeological risk. 

The proposed operations area will be top soil stripped and backfilled, probably with 

shell rock. The stripping is likely to expose most of the archaeological remains that 

may be present. This may enable operations to be moved away from the 

archaeological features, which can be preserved and protected. The practicality of 

this will depend on the actual remains and their location. Heavy truck movements 

over the area over the next two years would cause any archaeological remains to be 

compacted or crushed thus destroying them. 

Work to strengthen the existing Sarjeant Gallery involves earthworks the placement 

of structural ground beams and footings under the building and these could 

potentially encounter archaeological remains. 

The building, grass and tar seal surfaces covering most of the development areas 

prevented an examination of most of the actual ground surface except in very limited 

locations, mainly around the trees and towards the band rooms. Small fragments of 
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brick, glass, charcoal and other potential archaeological remains are present in these 

locations. Past newspaper reports show that historic artefacts were found when both 

the gallery and the band rooms were constructed. 

Two historic maps (Figs. 22 & 23), both from about 1866, when the settlement was 

still occupied by Imperial forces, show the location of individual cottages or whare 

associated with the soldiers9 settlement. On one of the maps the small huts shown are 

labelled as <Soldiers Huts= (Fig. 22). These may be the raupo and nikau whare. 

By the 1870s the whare have been replaced by wooden buildings, which can be seen 

in historic photographs (Figs. 26-28). The cottages are located along the base of the 

dune area at the back of the gallery and in the vicinity of the band rooms. 

Figure 36: An overlay of the buildings shown on the 1866 Barnard and Allen map (Fig. 

22) (in crimson) & Doyle map (Fig. 23)(in white) onto a modern aerial image. One group 

of buildings forms a line along the top of the dune where the Art Gallery stands. This 

seems an unlikely location. It appears the historic buildings are actually offset by about 

20 m towards the south. The best indication of this is from the V shaped formation of 

buildings that stood in the small valley by Bell Street where the police station now stands. 

These appear above on the slopes & top of the hill. 
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The 1860s historic maps of Whanganui were overlaid onto a modern aerial 

photograph (Fig. 36). This puts a line of buildings shown on the Barnard and Allen 

map along the top of dune, which seems an unlikely location. Also the cottages in the 

V-shaped valley, facing Bell Street where the police station is now located, show on 

the overlays as on the slopes and top of the hill. In the historic photographs buildings 

in the same location can be seen to be on the flat by Bell Street and along the base of 

the dune. Cottages along the base of the dune were in the lee of the prevailing wind. 

An approximately 20 m eastward movement of the mapped historic buildings shown 

on the overlay places them in the same locations as later buildings that are visible in 

the historic photographs. 

Alternatively, if the overlay locations are correct, then some of the historic buildings 

are under the Sarjeant Art Gallery. This would mean that a considerable amount of 

sand was cut off and moved in 1917, to level the dune to build the gallery. It would 

also mean the rear of the gallery is built on fill. It seems unlikely that this volume of 

sand was moved, but may be possible. 

Evidence of Maori occupation or use of Pukenamu may also be present, which may 

date from gun battles in the 19th century or from much more distant past times. 

Potentially the sheltered area behind the Sarjeant Gallery may have provided shelter 

to Maori either living at, or visiting Pukenamu. Historic photographs show pre-1900 

Maori occupation around the foot of Pukenamu. Historical accounts cited above refer 

to the place being called Pukenamu in 1819-1820. Similarly, in 1832 both Whanganui 

and their allies and their adversaries are recorded as having occupied and defended 

the hill, Pukenamu. 

Later, in the 18409s Maori attacking the stockade are recorded as coming to within 30 

m of the stockade and were digging covered trenches towards the stockade. These 

activities could have occurred within the area of the proposed development and may 

have left archaeological remains or evidence. 

These combined factors provide strong evidence and a reasonable expectation that 

there will be archaeological remains that relate to European and possibly Maori use 

and occupation that pre-dates 1900 at the gallery development site. Any such 
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archaeological remains will be modified or destroyed by the excavations and other 

work for the proposed gallery extension, strengthening work and related 

development. Any remains will most likely be capable of scientific investigation using 

archaeological methods and provide evidence relating to the history of New Zealand. 

Therefore an archaeological Authority must be obtained from the HNZPT in 

Wellington before any work that may affect archaeological remains can commence. 

The historic archaeological remains of the Rutland Stockade and its associated 

settlement are of particular local and national importance. Queen9s Park is of major 

historic and cultural importance to Whanganui, as a central part of the heritage 

landscape. 

Despite considerable development within Queen9s Park since late in the 19th century 

archaeological evidence from the Rutland Stockade and associated soldiers9 

settlement has survived in the park. Remains found to date include stratigraphically 

intact layers representing various phases of the historic occupation of the hill from at 

least the 1846 arrival of British troops to the 1880s demolition of the stockade and 

creation of the park. 

Much of the Queen9s Park landscaping and beautification, including the levelling and 

terracing, was undertaken before 1900. The landscape features themselves are 

therefore considered to be archaeological under the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere 

Taonga Act 2014. 

Whether archaeological remains are present can often be simply established with 

archaeological excavation using either machines or hand tools, as appropriate, at the 

time that the development is ready to proceed. Construction earthworks on the site 

should be monitored by an archaeologist. 

Archaeological remains in the development area could include sites of Maori origin 

with, for example, posthole outlines of whare, cooking and other fires, stone or 

metal/glass artefact scatters, middens and human burials. Also remains from the 

battles in the early 19t century and evidence of the attack on the stockade in 1847 

could potentially be present. 
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Remains of European sites could include the clay floors, posthole and wall remnants, 

of cottages or whare, cooking fires and kitchen ware, military items such as buttons 

and other paraphernalia, rubbish holes containing glass, china and food debris and 

other items, rubbish, and a well. Scattered or more diffuse historic deposits are also 

likely where old buried historic ground surfaces are encountered. 

9.1 Constraints and Limitations 

The primary constraint on this assessment was that the whole area being assessed is 

comprised of landscaped surfaces, which are under grass with large trees and a 

tarsealed and concreted roadway. Any surface evidence was obscured and there were 

no visible definite archaeological remains. Any remains may also have been 

concealed by the dumping of soil excavated when the gallery site was levelled in 1919 

or for other purposes such as when the road at the back of the gallery was made. 

Within the Sarjeant Gallery building the access to the areas below the floor was 

limited and the earthworks there could not be fully evaluated. The coming 

restoration work on the gallery will provide access to areas not generally able to be 

reached. This will enable archaeological assessment as the work progresses. 

The paucity of historic records concerning the Maori and early European settlement 

of Whanganui means that much of the detail about the settlement of the town cannot 

be determined. There is even less information about the area affected by this 

development. 

9.2 Archaeological and Other Values 

Rutland Stockade was a major regional military facility and comparable military sites 

occupied from the 1840s are rare or non-existent elsewhere in New Zealand. 

Pukenamu was also a major landmark to Maori in the past. This, together with the 

park's place in the development of Whanganui and the intact nature of significant 

portions of the site, gives the Pukenamu/Queen9s Park considerable archaeological 

value. 
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The archaeological of the development area is likely to increase our knowledge of 

Maori use of the area and the lifeways of the British troops and their families. This 

could make a valuable contribution to our history. Archaeology provides a unique 

opportunity to learn more about our historic past. The archaeological remains in the 

park are potentially of national value. 

The Department of Conservation prepared a review of the current condition and 

archaeological potential of the blockhouses and stockades constructed in New 

Zealand during the 1840s, which included Whanganui9s Rutland Stockade. The study 

concluded that over the last 150 years, many sites have been damaged or destroyed, 

and that so little survives that any remains that still exist must be regarded as 

archaeologically rare and nationally important (Walton 2003). 

The gallery development will affect part of NZAA site R22/440 and the site has been 

assessed for archaeological significance using criteria provided by the HNZPT and 

the Department of Conservation (DOC). The HNZPT (n. d.) guide to filling in the 

Authority application form provides a brief outline of principles that should be 

assessed and the NZHPT guidelines (2019: 9-10) identify qualities of rarity or 

uniqueness, condition, contextual value, information potential, amenity value, period 

and cultural associations. Slightly different criteria are defined by DOC - period, 

rarity, documentation, group value, survival/condition, fragility/vulnerability, 

diversity, and potential (Walton 1999). Table 4 summarises the archaeological 

values. 

Pukenamu, site R22/440, the location of the Rutland Stockade and associated 

facilities including the soldiers9 settlement has high values that must be considered to 

rate on a national basis. Any archaeological remains of Maori origin will be of 

considerable interest. The development area is of considerable public and Maori 

cultural interest. There is potential to provide archaeological information of value. 
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Table 2: Assessment of archaeological values, R22/440. 

Site Value Assessment 

Condition Potentially high. Part of the site may be in excellent 

condition, buried under sand. 

Rarity/ 

Uniqueness 

High. The soldiers9 settlement is probably unique and a 
nationally important site. Archaeological remains of 19 
century military family quarters or settlements, and used 
over an extended period, are rare. 

Sites of Maori origin have not been identified in the park 
to date, so any discoveries could be significant. 

Contextual 

Value 

High. The archaeological remains share a context with 

numerous other monuments to the past of significant 

historical value. The stockade and settlement are closely 
related to historically significant events. 

Information 

Potential 

High. There is considerable potential for archaeological 

evidence to be recovered concerning Maori and European 

occupation and use of the area. Any archaeological 
remains may provide significant information or represent 

significant events in the history of Whanganui. The 

potential for the recovery of information concerning the 

soldiers9 settlement by archaeological means is high, with 

the extent of earthworks. Also evidence of later 19" 

century squatters may be present. 

Amenity 

Value 

High. The site area is publicly owned and has high public 

interest. Access to the site during construction will be 

limited. There is significant potential for future 

presentation or education on-site, outdoors and within 

the park, gallery, museum and library. 

Cultural 

Associations 

High. Pukenamu and immediate surrounding area has 

significant Maori and European cultural associations. It 
is a place of significant interest to the wider community. 
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9.3 Assessment of Effects 

The earthworks proposed for the project will destroy any archaeological remains in 

the footprint of the gallery construction, as well as in the areas around it that are dug 

out to batter the slope. All other earthworks also have potential to modify, and 

destroy, archaeological remains. 

Archaeological remains could be present across most of the development area and 

any remains are likely to be destroyed during the development. Earthworks that are 

most likely to destroy archaeological contexts or remains include excavation of the 

area for the construction of the gallery extension, excavations for access and services 

and removal of tree stumps. Archaeological remains will also be destroyed and 

modified in the operation and storage area during its preparation and use. Heavy 

machinery operating will compact and crush in-ground archaeological evidence. It 

may be possible to avoid and protect archaeological remains in the operation area 

from truck movement and other damage. 

Provision must be made to allow sufficient time to undertake any necessary 

archaeological investigation work if historic remains are located as top soil stripping 

and earthworks proceed. All earthworks have potential to uncover buried historic 

structures or other significant archaeological remains. 

10.0 Conclusion and Recommendations 

10.1 Conclusions 

WDC plans to earthquake strengthen and refurbish the existing Sarjeant Art Gallery 

and construct a substantial three-level extension at the rear of the gallery. This will 

require new services and renewing existing services, and access to the gallery and 

band rooms. It will also require removing trees; extending and providing drainage 

for the carpark; and making associated changes to the footpaths, landscaping, 

planting and roading. 

With the known history of the park and the scale of the proposed works there is a 

reasonable expectation that archaeological remains will be encountered during the 
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works associated with the strengthening and restoration of the existing gallery and 

the construction of the new gallery extension and associated works. 

There is also a possibility that archaeological remains could be found under the 

existing Sarjeant Gallery during earthworks there for strengthening of the building. 

Queen9s Park contains nationally important archaeological remains of the Rutland 

Stockade and associated historic soldiers9 settlement. Archaeological remains are 

most likely to include remains of the soldiers9 settlement. There is potential for other 

evidence of Maori or European use to be present. 

A general archaeological Authority to modify or destroy site R22/440, as well as any 

other archaeological features encountered, will need to be applied for by WDC from 

HNZPT under Section 44 of the HNZPT Act 2014. This is a legal requirement under 

the Act. 

An archaeological Management Plan, approved by HNZPT, will be necessary before 

work can commence under the Authority. A Research Strategy will also be necessary. 

Allowance must be made for archaeological work and investigation when 

archaeological remains are encountered during earthworks for the project. The 

contractor must be provided with a copy of the HNZPT Authority and be fully aware 

of the requirements of the Authority, and the Management Plan. 

10.2 Recommendations 

It is recommended that an HNZPT Authority for the proposed work be applied for by 

WDC and that such an Authority is granted by HNZPT, with conditions. 

A condition should require monitoring of the earthworks that will potentially affect 

archaeological remains. All initial topsoil removal and shallow earthworks should be 

monitored, with deeper earthworks monitored at the discretion of the archaeologists 

according to the risks assessed in this report. 
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A condition should require that any archaeological evidence encountered during the 

exercise of the Authority should be investigated, recorded and analysed in 

accordance with standard archaeological practice. 

Provision should be made for tikanga Maori protocols, as agreed between WDC and 

mana whenua, and conveyed to the archaeologist, and these should be followed 

during the works. This may include karakia, visits to the work site and provision for 

tangata whenua monitoring or involvement in the archaeological work. Tangata 

whenua collaboration is an objective of the WDC park management plan. 

The contractor for the work should be provided with a copy of the HNZPT Authority 

and be fully informed of its requirements. It would be appropriate for contract 

specifications for the project to include provisions allowing for archaeological work. 
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the Chief Constable, lek up calls and a warder's room. On the brow of Quoer’s Park stands he 
Rutland Stockade. This was built in 1846-1847 to protect the infant settlement from the district 
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‘The scene inside the Rutland Stockade in 1867. At that date the stockade was also used as a military prison. Some of the Maori (oeked cal ne Sockade to have their photo taken. ‘Behind the prisoners ae guards trom the mia stationed inthe stockade, Many ofthese prisoners were tater sent to prisons in Otago. 

Source: A Wanganui Photo Album, Arthur P. Bates, 1982 
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@eremony Slarked Bravery of 

Both Sides 

The Veteran Steps in Queen's Park are such an integral part of the city landscape 
that we tend to take them for granted. However, the story behind the building of the 
steps is worth remembering ... 

The Veterans Steps in Queens Park soon after construction. 

Those who died in a crushing defeat on a British 
force encamped at Nukumaru on January 22, 1865 
were honoured at a special ceremony in Wanganui 
in 1986. 

At that ceremony on the Veterans Steps, a con- 
tingent of the 5th Battalion (Wellington, West Coast, 
Taranaki Reigment) not only remembered the dead 
of their alledractnents the Queen’s Own Regiment, 
but also the men of the Ngatihine tribe who went into 
battle under the ieadersbip of Patohe. 
Two British Army veterans were guests of honour 

as a refurbished memorial stone was unveiled. 
The stone records the names of the men of the 50th 

Regiment (now the Queen’s Own) who died at Nu- 
kumaru. 

It had been hoped that an officer from the Queen's 
Own could attend from Britain, but it was later ar- 
ranged that Lt Col, Newell and Major John Gallilee, 
both formerly of the West Kent Regiment and now 
retired in New Zealand, would represent the 
Queen’s Own. 

The WKR is now absorbed into the QOR. 
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Source: History Now, Athol Kirk, 1994 

ATTACK 
In a prelude to the 1865 action, General Cameron 

had marched his 2000 troops up the coast and 
pitched his camp in the early afternoon. 

On the right flank of his camp was bush and the flat 
land was covered in flax and toetoe. 

The camp was suddenly attacked in daylight by a 
strong force of Maori supported by a large body 
which remained under cover. 

Many years later Tu-Patea te Rongo of the Pakakohi 
tribe recounted his first experience of battle. 

“Our warriors rose from their cover and charged 
on the soldiers on the command, Kokiritia! from the 
chiefs and then Puhia! (fire) was the word. 
“When the Pakeha opened fire on us we held our 

right hands up on a level with the face, palm open, 
and cried Hapa, Hapa! (Pass over) the charm which 
Te Ua told us would prevent the bullets from striking 
us. 

“Those who acted according to Te Ua’s instruc- 
tions were not hit. 

“He had his two atua Rura and Riki; but he was 
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also, as | have said an atua himself. 
“One of our warriors, Pita Weka, charged right 

into an officer's tent in the camp and shot the officer 
dead.” 

This officer was Lieutenant Thomas O. Johnstone, 
Adjutant General of the 40th Regiment. 

He was in fact severely wounded in this attack and 
died next day in the hospital at the Rutland Stockade. 
He was buried in the Heads Rd Cemetery. 

The Maori account of the action continued: 
“The fighting at Nukumaru on the first day lasted 

well into the night. We had 23 men killed. On the 

second day we attacked again, when the troops were 
at dinner. 

: PICKET 
“There was a British picket near the scrub in asmall 

field work. The Maori crept up into this with their 
tomahawks and disposed of the picket”. 

Major Withell had warned General Cameron of 
the dangerous proximity of the bush. 

To this General Cameron replied: “Do you 
imagine, Major Withell that any body of natives 
would dare attack 2000 of her Majesty's troops?” 

They did with disastrous results for the British. 
A detachment of the 18th Irish Regiment under 

Captain Hugh Shaw came under heavy fire. 

They retreated to a ditch but Shaw saw that one of 
his men was wounded and lying out in the open. 

He dashed out and rescued the wounded man and 
for his action was awarded the Victoria Cross. 

His companions who helped him, Privates James 
Kearnes, George Champitt and John Brandon, each 
received the Distinguished Conduct Medal. 

The next afternoon the Maori attack lasted two 
hours and it was only when the British brought into 
action their two 6-pounder Armstrong guns which 
shelled the enemy positions, that any progress was 
made in repelling the attack. 

Patohe called off the attack, abandoning 22 dead 
and two wounded, and carrying away about 70 dead 
and wounded. 

The attack had cost the British force dearly. The 
18th Irish Regiment had three killed and 12 wound- 
ed, one of whom died later. 

The 50th Regiment had 11 killed and 20 wounded, 
including both officers of their outlying pickets, Lieu- 
tenant Wilson and Ensign Grant. 

Never again did the British Army camp so close to 
bush, but always chose a site in the open. 

The soldiers were buried where they fell. The 
grave was enclosed with a post and rail fence. 

The officers and men of the 50th Regiment ar- 
ranged for a headstone to be erected over the grave 
to commemorate their comrades. 

No such stone was erected for the men of the 18th 
Irish or the Maori. 

HEADSTONE 

The 40th Regiment arranged for the headstone on 
the grave of Lieutenant Johnstone in the Heads Rd 

cemetery. 
Over the years the grave was forgotten and the 

fence collapsed. Finally in 1892 it was decided to re- 
move the grave to Queens Park. 

The men given the task found that the grave was far 
more widespread than they had anticipated. All this 
tends to confirm the fact that all the dead whether 
Maori or Pakeha were buried in a common grave. 

So in March, 1892, the remains were reinterred at 
the Veterans Steps and the tombstone which had 
stood at Nukumaru was re-erected on the new site. 

The action at Nukumaru was a salutary lesson for 
the British Army. 

For the Maori they learned it was futile to sit in 
their hilltop pa and wait to be attacked by the British. 

Instead the guerilla tactics which had proved so 
successful at Nukumaru were henceforth to be their 
means of attack. 

The mausoleum of the fallen from Nukumaru soon 
after erection in 1892. The Veterans Steps were con- 
structed around it in 1919, 
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®ueen’s Park - Once Manganni’s 
Slum 

The lawns and well kept gardens of Queen's Park provide a peaceful area in the 
centre of Wanganui. But it was not always that way. Here is a glimpse at some of the 
goings-on in that area in earlier times . 

Queen’s Park is today regarded as the city’s cultur- 
al centre but it has had a turbulent history. It has 
witnessed inter-tribal wars, public hangings and was 
at one time the slum of Wanganui. 

To see how it became such a slum one has to go 
back to the founding of Petre (Wanganui). 

Early settlers found that the quickest and easiest 
way to get a roof over their heads was to engage the 
Maori to build them a Maori whare. Built of raupo 
and well thatched these whare were not only cheap 
but also weatherproof and warm in the winter. 

Paintings of early Petre show many of these whare. 
However, being built of such inflammable material 
they were such a fire risk that in 1842 the government 
passed the Raupo House Ordinance Act which came 
into force on March 3, that year. 

The main clause read: 
“Due to the risk of fire, a penalty of £40 will be 

imposed on all houses, made wholly or in part of 
raupo, nikau, toi toi, kakapo, wiwi, straw, or thatch 
and situated within town boundaries.” 

The strict enforcement of the Act would have 
created hardship as pit sawn timber was practically 
unprocurable. Therefore in Petre the law was hon- 
oured in the breach. 

In December 1846, with the arrival of men of the 

Source: History Now, Athol Kirk, 1994 

58th Regiment, the housing situation became des- 
perate. Single men were accommodated in the hast- 
ily erected Rutland Stockade. The married men how- 
ever, were given an allowance and had to find their 
own accommodation for their wives and families. 

The flat area where the Davis Library now stands 
was selected as a housing settlement and the Maori 
were engaged to erect 32 raupo whare. The presence 
of these whare contravened the Raupo Ordinance 
Act especially as the number grew. 

To meet the situation the authorities passed an 
amendment to the 1842 Act on March 7, 1853 and it 
was duly advertised. 

In August, 1867, the 18th Royal Regiment which 
had been garrisoning the Rutland Stockade marched 
out and the whare were vacated at the same time. 
However, they returned in October 1868, and history 
is silent as to whether the squatters moved in when 
the troops first left Wanganui or when they finally 
left on January 23, 1870. However, there is no doubt 
they were taken over in 1870. 

These whare became known as “The Rookery” 
after the name of a slum area in London. On Novem- 
ber 12, 1870, the editor of the Wanganui Chronicle 
wrote an editorial headed ‘The Rookery”. Init he had 
this to say: 

11 

—
 



7
 

“Frequent complaints have been made lately to 
the police, who are powerless in the matter, about 
the class of people who have assembled on the Rut- 
land Hill adjacent to the stockade. The soldiers when 
stationed there had erected a number of toi toi and 
raupo whare in which their families resided, and 
when the soldiers left Wanganui their whare were 
left standing. They were gradually taken possession 
of and occupied by a number of ‘exquisites’ who 
have obtained for their locale the suggestive name of 
“The Rookery”. 

The article concluded by stating that the area is 
well known as the rendezvous for questionable char- 
acters and suggested “The Rookery” should be des- 
troyed by burning. 

In 1872 when Wanganui became a Borough, 

Queen’s Park, being a reserve, passed to the jurisdic- 
tion of the new council and “The Rookery” was de- 
molished and burned. 

However, the impression got around that the re- 
serve was common ground and many settlers with- 
out means built shacks on the reserve. By 1875 there 
were at least 30 of these dwellings dotted over the 
hill. They did not pay rates and for water used the 
well that formerly supplied the Rutland Stockade. 

The sanitary arrangements were far from satisfac- 
tory and in 1880 the Borough Council decided to 
level and beautify the area. A few of the pine trees 
planted at that time still grow on the brow of the hill. 

However, their days are numbered and with their 
felling will go the last reminder of “The Rookery.” 

Queens Park from Durie Hill in the 1880s. The 

Maori encampment is on riverbank. 
(Photo Whanganui Regional Museum) 
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NEW ZEALAND ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION 

¢€ 
ARCHSITE 

Site Record Form 

NZAA SITE NUMBER: R22/440 

SITE TYPE: Military (non-Maori) 

SITE NAME(s): Rutland Stockade 

archaeological site Pukenamu 
recording scheme 

DATE RECORDED: 

SITE COORDINATES (NZTM) Easting: 1775550 Northing: 5577760 Source: On Screen 

IMPERIAL SITE NUMBER: METRIC SITE NUMBER: = R22/440 

Scale 1:2,500_ ; 

Ser22/440 

“Gp R22/578 

< 
4R22/577 

R22/512 

~ 
‘ } 3 R22/511 On 180 %. g 1511 

Landiinformation New Zealand, Eagle Teun y 

Finding aids to the location of the site 

The site is located in Queens Park Reserve, Wanganui. 

Brief description 

Site of stockade and blockhouse. 

Recorded features 

Stockade 

Other sites associated with this site 



NEW ZEALAND ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION 

SITE RECORD HISTORY NZAA SITE NUMBER: R22/440 

Site description 

Updated 07/07/2015 (other), submitted by michaeltaylor 
Grid reference (E1775550 / N5577760) 

The location of the stockade was up-dated to place the grid point in the approximate centre of the stockade. 

Huts and whare used to accommodate married troops were located approximately 100-200m to the northwest in the vicinity 
of the rear of the Art Gallery and Public Library. Other remains relating to the 19th century military use have been found 
throughout most of Queens Park. 

Updated: 04/05/2011, Visited: 30/06/2011 - NZTM E1775470 / N5577790 (On Screen). 

The site of the Rutland Stockade and blockhouse, constructed by British troops in 1847 and demolished in 1887. The 
Rutland Stockade was erected in the vicinity of a former pa and battle site known as Pukenamu. HPT Authority 2010/218, 
2004/206, 2002/175, 2002/27, 2002/03. 

Taylor & Sutton, 2011. Final report on archaeological monitoring during the refurbishment of paving and steps surrounding 
the cenotaph Queens Park, R22/440, Wanganui. NZHPT authority 2010-218. Unpublished report to Wanganui District 
Council and NZHPT. 

Inspected by: Taylor, Michael; Sutton, Annetta. 

Condition of the site 

Updated: 04/05/2011, Visited: 30/06/2011 - Authority 2010-218 actioned June 2010; no additional archaeological features 
encountered. 

The site was landscaped from 1880 and several buildings have been constructed on the site since. (2001) 

Statement of condition 

Updated: 09/05/2011, Visited: 30/06/2011 - Below surface - Surface evidence has been obliterated, however, there is 
likely to be subsurface material present. Note that this is different from a destroyed site. 

Current land use: 

Threats: 

Updated: 17/08/2015 - Road/ track formation or maintenance, Tree planting (other than forestry), Vegetation clearance, 
Fossicking, Services/ utilities, Visitor impacts/ vandalism 



NEW ZEALAND ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION 

SITE RECORD INVENTORY NZAA SITE NUMBER: R22/440 

Supporting documentation held in ArchSite 

Jey sateen ine th yy 
SITE RECORD FORM (NZMS260) 
NZMS 260 map number: R22  NzMS 260 map name: WANGANUI V3? 

NZMS 260 map edition:1st, 1987 NZAA METRIC SITE NUMBER: R22/hug 

DATE VISITED: June 2001 sive TyPE: Stockade/ pa/ settlement 

SITE NAME: MaoRI Pukenamu OTHER Rutland Stockade 

Grid References Easting 2.6 18151410 0 Northing 61 13191615 0 

1. Aids to relocation of site Queen's Park Reserve, Wanganui 
City. 
2. State of site and possible future damage The site was 
landscaped from 1880 and the Sargeant Art Gallery 
(1919), Whanganui Regional Museum (1928), Davis Library 
(1980), Alexander Room (1933), Garrison Band Rooms, 
Cenotaph, Veteran Steps (1892 & 1919) and Queen's Park 
School (1879, demolished 1971) have all been constructed 
on the site. ' 
3. Description of site See attached articles. 

Site of the Rutland Stockade and blockhouses, 
constructed by British troops in 1847 and demolished in 
1887. 

An earlier pa occupied the eastern end of the hill (Ihe 
Wanganui Story 1972:33, Smart & Bates). 

A housing settlement associated with the Rutland 
Stockade existed in the vicinity of the Davis Library 
and later was a squatters settlement. In 1875 at least 
30 dwellings were clustered on the slopes of Queen's 
Park (Smart & Bates p.79). 

4. ower Wanganui District Council Manager 

Address P.O. Box 637, Wanganui. 

5. Nature of information Brief visit during archaeological 

assessment. Published information. 

Photographs (reference numbers and where they are held) 

Aerial photographs (reference numbers and clarity eee at 

6. Reported by Michael Taylor, Filekeeper dD wWesha 
Address Archaeology North, Date 

P.O. Box 7294, 
Wanganui. 

7. Key words historic, stockade, pa, settlement 

8. Central file (for office use) 

Fr Cid aypeiion-site aA, case cuawseesercten 

bod A Present condition « future Pic Local body 
danger of destruction 
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Appendix D 

Sarjeant Art Gallery 

Plans for Installation of Water 

and other Services 
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